Foundations and Trends[®] in Microeconomics 2:3 (2006)

Economics of Crime

Erling Eide, Paul H. Rubin, and Joanna M. Shepherd



Economics of Crime

Economics of Crime

Erling Eide

Faculty of Law, University of Oslo Box 6706 Oslo 0130, Norway

Paul H. Rubin

Department of Economics, Emory University Atlanta GA 30322, USA

Joanna M. Shepherd

School of Law Emory University Atlanta GA 30322, USA



the essence of knowledge

Boston – Delft

Foundations and Trends[®] in Microeconomics

Published, sold and distributed by: now Publishers Inc. PO Box 1024 Hanover, MA 02339 USA Tel. +1-781-985-4510 www.nowpublishers.com sales@nowpublishers.com

Outside North America: now Publishers Inc. PO Box 179 2600 AD Delft The Netherlands Tel. +31-6-51115274

Library of Congress Control Number: 2006935710

The preferred citation for this publication is E. Eide, P. H. Rubin and J. M. Shepherd, Economics of Crime, Foundations and Trends[®] in Microeconomics, vol 2, no 3, pp 205–279, 2006

Printed on acid-free paper

ISBN: 1-933019-48-4 © 2006 E. Eide, P. H. Rubin and J. M. Shepherd

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior written permission of the publishers.

Photocopying. In the USA: This journal is registered at the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc., 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923. Authorization to photocopy items for internal or personal use, or the internal or personal use of specific clients, is granted by now Publishers Inc for users registered with the Copyright Clearance Center (CCC). The 'services' for users can be found on the internet at: www.copyright.com

For those organizations that have been granted a photocopy license, a separate system of payment has been arranged. Authorization does not extend to other kinds of copying, such as that for general distribution, for advertising or promotional purposes, for creating new collective works, or for resale. In the rest of the world: Permission to photocopy must be obtained from the copyright owner. Please apply to now Publishers Inc., PO Box 1024, Hanover, MA 02339, USA; Tel. +1 781 871 0245; www.nowpublishers.com; sales@nowpublishers.com

now Publishers Inc. has an exclusive license to publish this material worldwide. Permission to use this content must be obtained from the copyright license holder. Please apply to now Publishers, PO Box 179, 2600 AD Delft, The Netherlands, www.nowpublishers.com; e-mail: sales@nowpublishers.com

Foundations and Trends[®] in Microeconomics

Volume 2 Issue 3, 2006 Editorial Board

Editor-in-Chief: W. Kip Viscusi

University Distinguished Professor of Law, Economics, and Management Vanderbilt University 131 21st Avenue South Nashville, TN 37203-1181

Editors

Richard Carson, UC San Diego (environmental economics)
Joseph Harrington, Johns Hopkins University (industrial organization)
Tom Kniesner, Syracuse University (labor economics)
Mark V. Pauly, University of Pennsylvania (health economics)
Thomas Nechyba, Duke University (public economics)
Peter Zweifel, University of Zurich (insurance economics)

Editorial Scope

Foundations and Trends[®] **in Microeconomics** will publish survey and tutorial articles in the following topics:

- Environmental Economics
 - Contingent Valuation
 - Environmental Health Risks
 - Climate Change
 - Endangered Species
 - Market-based Policy Instruments
- Health Economics
 - Moral Hazard
 - Medical Care Markets
 - Medical Malpractice
 - Insurance economics
- Industrial Organization
 - Theory of the Firm
 - Regulatory Economics
 - Market Structure
 - Auctions
 - Monopolies and Antitrust
 - Transaction Cost Economics

- Labor Economics
 - Labor Supply
 - Labor Demand
 - Labor Market Institutions
 - Search Theory
 - Wage Structure
 - Income Distribution
 - Race and Gender
- Law and Economics
 - Models of Litigation
 - Crime
 - Torts, Contracts and Property
 - Constitutional Law
- Public Economics
 - Public Goods
 - Environmental Taxation
 - Social Insurance
 - Public Finance
 - International Taxation

Information for Librarians

Foundations and Trends[®] in Microeconomics, 2006, Volume 2, 6 issues. ISSN paper version 1547-9846. ISSN online version 1547-9854. Also available as a combined paper and online subscription.

Foundations and Trends[®] in Microeconomics Vol. 2, No 3 (2006) 205–279 © 2006 E. Eide, P. H. Rubin and J. M. Shepherd DOI: 10.1561/0700000014



Economics of Crime

Erling Eide¹, Paul H. Rubin² and Joanna M. Shepherd³

- ¹ Faculty of Law, University of Oslo, Oslo 0130, Norway
- ² Department of Economics, Emory University, Atlanta GA 30322, USA
- ³ School of Law Emory University, Atlanta GA 30322, USA

Abstract

This paper starts with a review the economics of criminal behavior. Then, the authors discuss the theory of public enforcement. The economic analysis of criminal behavior and criminal law has been a hugely successful enterprise. As an academic enterprise, it has achieved the goal of research—it has generated a large and growing literature. More important than academic success, however, has been the influence of this branch of learning on actual practice. The understanding of deterrence effects and rational responses by criminals has substantially changed the purpose and functioning of the criminal justice system.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	The Economics of Criminal Behavior	3
2.1	The Basic Model	3
2.2	Extensions of the Basic Model	5
2.3	The Benefits and Costs of Crime	10
2.4	Are Criminals Really Rational?	12
2.5	Empirical Studies	14
2.6	Methodologic Problems and Criticism	28
2.7	The Case of Capital Punishment	34
2.8	Guns and Abortions	41
3	The Economics of Public Criminal Law	
	Enforcement	43
3.1	Probability and Severity	44
3.2	Fines and Imprisonment	46
3.3	Risk Preferences	46
3.4	Imperfect Information	48
3.5	Targeted and General Enforcement	50
3.6	Repeat Offenders	51
3.7	Enforcement Errors	53
3.8	8 Reductions in Enforcement Costs	54
3.9	Incentives of Enforcers	54

4 Conclusion	57
Acknowledgements	59
References	61

Introduction

During the past 40 years, beginning with the work of Becker (1968) economists have invaded the field of criminology, using their allembracing model of individual rational behavior. In this model, a criminal act is preferred and chosen if the total payoff, including the expected cost of sanctions and other costs, is higher than that of legal alternatives. The theory of deterrence thus obtained is regarded as a special case of the general theory of rational behavior under uncertainty. Assuming that individual preferences are constant, the model can be used to predict how changes in the probability and severity of sanctions and in various socio-economic factors may affect the amount of crime. Even if most of those who violate certain laws differ systematically from those who abide by the same laws, the former, like the latter, do respond to incentives (i.e., to sanctions and refinement have been carried out on the basis of this theory.

Whereas the general preventive effects of sanctions for a long time have occupied a main position in penal legislation and sentencing policy, such effects were almost totally neglected in criminology and modern sociology until the late 1960s. Criminologists have been more interested in rehabilitation and treatment, and many are still reluctant to accept studies of deterrence in general and models of criminal behavior based on rational choice in particular. However, scholars who are reluctant to accept the assumption of rational choice still find interest in the rather rigorous empirical studies in the economics of crime literature (Andenæs, 1975), and sociologists have in recent years been inspired to carry out similar research.

Models of criminal behavior in which a person is assumed to act rationally on the basis of costs and benefits of legal and illegal opportunities are presented. Many of these models are similar to models of portfolio choice or of supply of labor. The empirical studies that are surveyed use various types of regression analyses and employ data from states and police regions down to campuses and individuals. Most studies corroborate the hypothesis that the probability of punishment, and to a lesser degree also the severity of punishment, has a deterrent effect on crime. The effects of various economic factors are less clear, although unemployment seems to increase crime. Methodologic problems relating to the assumption of rationality, to statistic identification of equations, to measurement errors, and to operationalization of theoretic variables are discussed.

In what follows, we first discuss the economics of criminal behavior. We next discuss the theory of public enforcement. We omit some topics. In particular, we do not discuss corporate crime, organized crime, and criminal procedure. Each of these is worthy of a separate essay; here we discuss the basic model of criminal behavior and of law enforcement.

The Economics of Criminal Behavior

2.1 The Basic Model

Theories of criminal behavior based more or less on the assumption of rational choice were proposed by Beccaria (1995) and Bentham (1843). Bentham (1789, 1843, p. 399:) wrote that "... the profit of the crime is the force which urges man to delinquency: the pain of the punishment is the force employed to restrain him from it. If the first of these forces be the greater, the crime will be committed; if the second, the crime will not be committed." From the beginning of the 20th century interest in their point of view dwindled as a plethora of other theories were developed. The main idea of Bentham was vitalized and modernized in the path-breaking article on *Crime and Punishment* by Becker (1968), who suggests that "a useful theory of criminal behavior can dispense with special theories of anomie, psychological inadequacies, or inheritance of special traits and simply extend the economist's usual analysis of choice" (p. 170). He argues that criminals are like anyone else, and assumes that an individual behaves as if he is a rational utility maximizer. As the total outcome of a criminal act is uncertain,

Becker employs the usual assumption that people act as if they were maximizing expected utility, and also that utility is a positive function of income. The individual's expected utility E[U] from committing an offense is:

$$E[U] = PU(Y - f) + (1 - P)U(Y), \qquad (2.1)$$

where $U(\cdot)$ is the individual's von Neumann–Morgenstern utility function, P is the subjective probability of being caught and convicted, Y is the monetary plus psychic income (i.e. the monetary equivalent) from an offense, and f is the monetary equivalent of the punishment. The individual will commit the offense if the expected utility is positive, and he will not if it is negative. The common assumption of stable preferences provides a solid foundation for generating predictions about responses to various changes in parameters, and, according to Becker, prevents the analyst from succumbing to the temptation of simply postulating the required shift in preferences to "explain" all apparent contradictions to his predictions. Comparative statics analysis shows that increases in either the probability or the severity of punishment might change the expected utility from being positive to being negative. For society as a whole Becker introduces a "supply of offense function", where the two factors have an effect on the total amount of crime.

Whereas Becker considers the income and punishment equivalents of an offense separated from other income, later authors, in accordance with Brown and Reynolds (1973), take the individual's initial income position as a point of reference. Expected utility becomes

$$E[U] = PU(W - f) + (1 - P)U(W + g), \qquad (2.2)$$

where W is present income and g is gains from crime. Here, the crime will be committed if the expected utility is higher than the utility of the initial income W. Furthermore, it is sometimes assumed that the offender in case of conviction might retain some gain from the offense. Becker demonstrated that if the elasticity of the expected utility with respect to the probability of punishment exceeded the elasticity of the expected utility with respect to conviction (both in absolute values), the offenders were risk lovers. Empirical studies by Becker and others corroborated this result. As shown by Brown and Reynolds (1973) Eq. (2.2), at variance with Eq (2.1), does not imply such a conclusion.

2.2 Extensions of the Basic Model

Later, several types of economic models of crime have been developed, all of which draw on the theory of supply and the theory of behavior towards risk. The simplest one is very similar to models of portfolio choice, where a person's wealth is allocated between various risky and non-risky projects. In the economics of crime version of this model the illegal alternatives are considered as risky mainly because of uncertainty about punishment. Allingham and Sandmo (1972), Kolm (1973), and Singh (1973) have constructed such models for tax evasion, where the individual is confronted with the problem of deciding what proportion of income not to report to the tax authorities. At variance with Becker's model where the income of crime is a parameter, here the income of criminal activity is a function of the proportion of the exogenous income not reported.

Both the probability and the severity of punishment are found to deter crime for a risk-averse person. For risk lovers, the effect of the severity of punishment is uncertain. An increase in the severity will have similar effects for illegal activities as a wage decrease in labor supply models will have for legal activities. Two effects obtain: (i) a substitution effect and (ii) an income effect. The substitution effect of a more severe punishment will consist in less crime. The sign of the income effect will depend on individual attitude toward risk. For a risk lover the income effect is positive, and the total effect on crime of a change in severity becomes indeterminate. The effects of changes in gains from crime and in exogenous income depend on whether there is decrease or increase in the risk aversion or risk preference. For the common assumption of decreasing absolute risk aversion an individual will allocate a larger proportion of his or her income to tax cheating the higher his or her exogenous income and the higher the gains from crime.

Heineke (1978) has presented a somewhat different type of model where the individual allocates his or her time (and not his or her wealth or income) between legal and illegal activities. The individual's income is assumed to be equal to the sum of three elements:

- (1) exogenous income;
- (2) the monetary and monetized benefits and costs of legal activities;
- (3) the monetary and monetized benefits and costs of illegal activities.

(Monetization implicitly takes place if an individual, having to choose between actions involving non-monetary gains and losses, acts rationally according to certain axioms.) If convicted, this income is reduced by a factor that represents the monetary and monetized costs of crime. Here, some of the individuals may choose to specialize in either legal or illegal activities, whereas others may choose a mix of the two. A marginal increase in the probability or the severity of sanctions will affect the optimal mix of activities, whereas such an increase may be insufficient to have an effect on individuals who have specialized in one of the two activities. Assuming leisure time not to be fixed, the same comparative statics results as for the portfolio choice model are obtained. The reason for this similarity is the monetization of psychic benefits, and the high degree of independence between the types of activities. In addition, for some attitudes toward risk, it turns out that an increase in returns to legal activity increases time allocated to both types of activities.

Several authors, beginning with Ehrlich (1973), have studied the latter type of model, but with the additional restriction that time allocated to leisure is fixed (and thus independent of returns and costs for legal and illegal activities). The assumption of a fixed leisure time obviously requires that the time allocated to legal and illegal activity changes in opposite direction (and with equal amounts), but the effects of changes in some of the parameters are also different from the previous model. Whereas the effects on crime of changes in exogenous income and gains to crime are the same as above, the effects of changes in the severity of sanctions become inconclusive without further restrictions on some parameters.

The portfolio model of time allocation with non-fixed leisure time has been somewhat extended by Wolpin (1978) and by Schmidt and Schmidt and Witte (1984), who have introduced four possible criminal justice states, each taking place with a certain probability. In these models the effects of changes in sanctions, and in gains and losses of crime become more ambiguous than in the previous models. Especially, and somewhat surprisingly, illegal activity will decrease with increasing unemployment under the standard assumption of decreasing absolute risk aversion. The explanation is that unemployment implies a lower income, and therefore a higher risk aversion, and then again a lower expected utility of crime. Under risk neutrality time allocated to illegal activity is not affected by a change in the expected employment rate. Baldry (1974) introduces the assumption that a person has to choose between zero or a given number of hours of legal work per week. Transforming the Ehrlich model into a nonlinear programming model, he obtains unambiguous predictions of the effects on crime of changes in sanctions and economic variables.

If one is not willing to accept the assumption that all psychic factors associated with legal and illegal activities can be monetized, one has to use utility functions where time allocations and their attributes are introduced explicitly. Block and Heineke (1975) have studied a model where a vector of attributes of the penalty, interpreted as the length of sentence, is included in the utility function. In this model one obtains considerably more ambiguous results than for the previous models. Unless one is willing to make strong assumptions about individual preferences, it is not possible to decide whether criminal activity will decrease or increase as a result of changes in the probability of punishment, of changes in returns to legal and to illegal activity, and of changes in exogenous income.

Block and Heineke (1975) have shown that changes in legal and illegal remuneration lead to changes in illegal activity that are composed of stochastic counterparts of the substitution and income effects of traditional supply and demand theory. But the similarity is not close. Even if one assumes that illegal activity is inferior (i.e. that such activity is decreasing with income), it is not possible to sign the relevant terms. Increasing the penalty, for instance, will not unambiguously deter crime.

Witte (1980, p. 59) and Schmidt and Witte (1984) have studied a simplified version of their several sanctions model where time spent in legal income-generating activity (work), time spent in illegal income-generating activity (theft, etc.), time spent in legal consumption activities, and time spent in illegal consumption activities (drug use, assaultive activities, etc.) are separate arguments in the individual's utility function. Here too, similar inconclusive results are obtained. When benefits and costs of legal activities are risky, even more ambiguous results are obtained.

The standard assumption that people maximize *expected* utility is appealing because it follows from the von Neumann–Morgenstern axioms of individual behavior that many scholars regard as reasonable, or at least as a fruitful hypothesis. However, many laboratory experiments have shown that people do not always choose in accordance with these axioms. The surge of studies of *non-expected* utility theories have so far had little impact on the literature of economics of crime. An exception is Lattimore and Witte (1986), who included burglaries in a set of risky prospects to choose between. Eide (1995) has substituted the assumption of rank-dependent expected utility for the ordinary expected utility in various models of criminal behavior. In the latter study it is shown that the qualitative results of comparative statics analyses are the same for both types of assumptions.

Summing up the comparative static results so far, an increase in the probability of clear-up or arrest has, regardless of the sign of the attitude toward risk, a negative effect on the supply of crime. The effect of an increase in the conviction rate, given arrest, is indeterminate without further assumptions, and the same holds true for an increase in the probability of imprisonment given conviction. However, reasonable assumptions will produce the same conclusions as for the unconditional probability of arrest or conviction. These results constitute a certain support for the probability part of the deterrence hypothesis.

For any attitude toward risk in Becker's model, an increase in the severity of punishment has a negative effect on the supply of crime. For the group of portfolio choice models as a whole, the severity part of the deterrence hypothesis hinges upon the question of attitude toward risk. The effect of more severe sanctions is especially uncertain for risk lovers, whereas risk averters in most models offend less when sanctions increase. Furthermore, a positive shift in punishment in the several sanctions model and in the labor supply model with non-monetized attributes can cause an increase in crime for any attitude toward risk. In the latter model, the restriction necessary to generate this effect is that the income effects must be greater than the substitution effects. The labor supply models with non-monetized attributes give inconclusive effects also for changes in the other parameters that are studied. For the other models the effects of changes in the gains to crime, in exogenous income, and in income from legal activities depend on the individual's attitude toward risk.

Overall, the conclusion is that the effects of changes in the environment depend on the individual's attitude toward risk. If one is willing to stick to the rather common assumption of decreasing absolute risk aversion, and also that psychic effects can be monetized, and that there is just one type of sanctions, the effects are clear: crime is deterred by increases in the probability and in the severity of punishment, and enhanced by increases in exogenous income, and in gains from both legal and illegal activities. The reason why increases in various incomes and gains increases crime is that punishment in the case of decreasing absolute risk aversion produces a smaller reduction in expected (total) income. For risk-neutral people an increase in the probability or severity of punishment and a decrease in the gains to crime will reduce the supply of crime, whereas changes in exogenous income, and in the remuneration of legal activity have no effect. Here, changes in the latter income components do not change the bite of punishment.

A crucial assumption in the studies mentioned above seems to be the Bernoulli distribution of the probability of punishment. Introducing a more general distribution of risk into the Becker-type model of Block and Lind (1975), Baldry (1980) concludes that the "standard" deterrence results cannot be derived. A survey of the main contributions to the development of the economic models of crime is found in Schmidt and Witte (1984).

10 The Economics of Criminal Behavior

A type of model somewhat different from those mentioned above is developed by Ormerod *et al.* (2003). The model is similar to those used in mathematic biology to describe how potential epidemics are spread or contained in a population. In their model the amount of crime committed by an individual depends on the amount of crimes committed by others in the person's environment. The potential to commit crime differ among groups of people, and a person may move from one group to another. The probability and severity of punishment influence the flow between groups, and thus the amount of crime.

2.3 The Benefits and Costs of Crime

Various studies have elaborated on the benefits and costs of crime. The gains and losses included in the economic models of criminal behavior are usually meant to represent all kinds of benefits and costs that have an effect on the people's decisions. People are assumed to allocate time to criminal activity until marginal benefits equal marginal costs. For some people marginal benefits are probably always lower than marginal costs, and we then have a law-abiding person. Others will specialize in crime, while most of us possibly commit an offense now and then.

The kinds of gains obtained from a criminal act vary, depending on the type of crime and the individual criminal: Some are monetary, obtained from theft, robbery, insurance fraud, etc. Others are psychic, such as the thrill of danger, peer approval, retribution, sense of accomplishment, or "pure" satisfaction of wants (rape). For some property crimes the prices obtained on markets of stolen goods are of importance. Among the costs one may distinguish between material costs (equipment, guns, vehicles), psychic costs (guilt, anxiety, fear, dislike of risk), expected punishment costs, and opportunity costs.

The punishment costs include all formal and informal sanctions, as well as pecuniary costs arising from lawsuits (lost income and lawyer's fee). The formal sanctions include fines, various forms of incarceration, etc. The more severe these sanctions are, the higher the cost. The informal sanctions include any personal inconveniences connected with arrest, trial, and conviction. The sanctions related to the social stigma caused by arrest and formal sanctions must be added. The nuisance associated with appearing in court, and the reactions of employer, family and friends might have a stronger effect than formal sanctions. The opportunity cost of crime consists of the net benefit (gross benefit minus cost) of the legal activity forgone while planning, performing and concealing the criminal act. The lower an individual's level of income, the lower is his or her opportunity cost of engaging in illegal activity.

The amount a person can earn in the legal sector may depend on factors such as age, sex, race, education, training, region, rate of unemployment, and IQ. People able to earn only a rather low wage will have a low-opportunity cost of crime, the cost of giving up legal income. We would therefore expect that among criminals there are more young people, men, minorities, and low-paid workers, than in the population at large. This is in fact what crime statistics tell us, but more refined empirical studies are necessary to substantiate such relationships.

Many individual characteristics might have an effect on benefits and costs. Individual rates of discount might be important. The gains from crime often occur immediately, whereas punishment is something that might come in the future, and stretched over a long period of time. A high discount rate will therefore tend to increase crime. The probability of punishment will be different for different people. Some are cleverer than others at concealing the offense and eluding the police. There are also differences in abilities of defending oneself in court, or in engaging good lawyers. The attitude toward risk will also have an effect.

A high rate of recidivism is in accordance with the model of rational choice. If for an offender preferences are stable and the opportunities available remain the same, the degree of criminal activity will not tend to decrease after a conviction. Moreover, serving time in jail may reduce legal opportunities, and convicts may acquire human capital in illegal activities, so that recidivism is not necessarily a result of erratic behavior or lack of self-control, nor is it evidence of a lack of deterrence. Rather, it may be consistent with a theory of rational choice. If it was rational to commit a crime in the first place, it is all the more so after having served a prison sentence. If the sentence has increased the criminal's evaluation of how probable or severe sanctions might be, or if he or she has obtained some benefit of prison education schemes, the tendency to recidivism will be counterbalanced.

2.4 Are Criminals Really Rational?

Exaggerating somewhat the differences between sociologists and economists, one may say that the former consider crime as deviant behavior whereas the latter consider it as rational. The individual has a feasible set of courses of action, some of which are illegal. The environment, including sanctions and wages, determines the outcomes of the various courses of action. The individual is assumed to choose the course of action that best satisfies preferences. Preferences include not only wants, but also binding and non-binding norms. The guilt of acting in conflict with non-binding norms is part of the costs of crime. If individual norms are explicitly included one may speak of norm-guided rational behavior.

In theories of economics of crime, norms are seldom studied, or even mentioned. Preferences as a whole are usually assumed to be constant, and authors do not find it necessary, or do not feel competent to discuss norms. Traditional criminologic theories, on the other hand, suggest that the individual's environment has a significant impact on people's preferences, especially on individual norms, but also on wants. Theories about culture conflict, cultural deviance, anomie, and learning relate individual preferences to various characteristics of the society. Other theories suggest that preferences are inherited or dependent on age, gender, race, intelligence, and other personal characteristics. In the literature of economics of crime these various theories are often neglected, and preferences and individual characteristics are assumed to be constant. The main question studied is how the environment produces incentives to commit, or not to commit, crimes.

In a very broad sense, a deterrent is any factor that exerts a preventive force against crime. Sanctions may have an effect on crime either by causing fear or by influencing norms. The combination of these effects is in parts of the literature on crime called "general prevention" (Andenæs, 1975). In economics of crime one focuses on the effects of law enforcement on the *outcomes* of actions, and thereby on illegal behavior. This is the deterrence mechanism in the narrow sense. The possibility that law enforcement or other aspects of the environment might affect individual norms and wants, (e.g. by conditioned aversion as suggested by the behavioral perspective), is given less attention.

An interesting question is whether the model of rational choice is in conflict with, a substitute for, a supplement to, or a general framework for other theories of crime. Carr-Hill and Stern (1979) emphasize that the economic and criminologic approaches should be seen as complementary rather than conflicting. They maintain that the economic approach isolates the importance of the probabilities and magnitude of reward and punishment, and show how they can be treated formally. The criminologic approach takes these for granted and indicates how different groups might view and react to these probabilities, rewards, and punishments.

These two approaches are related to the issue of opportunity vs. motivation as explanation of crime. Economists and other researchers who focus on costs and benefits of crime in a rational choice framework, also take into account that crime presupposes potential victims. The better the opportunities of hitting valuable and low-risk targets, the more crime there is. Those who more or less explicitly dismiss the theory of rational choice, often focus on the motivation of individuals, assuming that behavior is determined by individual characteristics and by the norms of the groups to which they belong. The opportunity approach is an element in the market models of crime, where the number of offenses is determined by the interaction of potential offenders, who are seeking the best targets, and potential victims, who by measures of private protection seek to be less attractive or vulnerable to crime, (*cf.* Ehrlich (1981, 1982, 1996) and Cook (1986)).

Several authors have discussed whether people have sufficient information about the environment and about outcomes of actions to make rational choices. Becker and others maintain that even if choices are based on subjective beliefs that are wrong, the choices are meaningful from a subjective point of view, and behavior can be explained and understood on this basis. One may argue that this is not a satisfactory answer to the claim that people have cognitive limitations, and that they stick to "satisficing" and not to maximization. The studies of Caroll and Weaver (1986), Tunnell (1992), and Nagin and Paternoster (1993) suggest that Simon's theory of bounded rationality might be a better representation of offenders' behavior than the rational choice theory, a conclusion that is supported by Niggli (1994). Sah (1991) also discusses the information available to criminals and argues that criminals may associate with each other, and so have information based on experiences of acquaintances.

It has also been argued that the simple rational choice theory is inadequate because people's behavior is determined by procedural rationality, in which an individual is portrayed as a follower of rules established by history or social relations, or by expressive rationality, in which an individual, through symbolic acts, demonstrates to him- or her-self and others his or her self-conception and worth. There is disagreement about how serious such criticism is for the use of the rational choice theory in studies of crime. Ehrlich (1973, p. 532) maintains that "[s]ince those who hate need not respond to incentives any differently than those who love or are indifferent to the well-being of others, the analysis ... would apply ... to crimes against the person as well as to crime involving material gains."

2.5 Empirical Studies

In a great number of empirical studies the theoretic models of criminal behavior have been tested, and the effect on crime of the probability and severity of punishment, and of benefits and costs of legal and illegal activities has been estimated. The influence of norms, tastes, and abilities, corresponding to constitutional and acquired individual characteristics, have in some cases been studied indirectly by including variables like age, race, gender, etc. A variety of equation specifications and estimation techniques has been employed, and the studies have been based on levels of aggregation ranging from countries and states down to municipalities, campuses, and individuals.

The awareness of the methodologic problems encountered in this field, combined with easy access to various statistic methods, has gradually led to more sophisticated empirical studies. No effort will be made to explain how the various methodologic problems have been solved (or not solved) in each and every study mentioned below. Only occasionally, some ingenious solution will be pointed. In general, and not without exceptions, recent studies seem to be more reliable than those carried out 20–40 years ago.

It seems appropriate to introduce the term "criminometric studies" to characterize (advanced) empirical studies of criminal behavior. The subject matter is crime, and it gives the field a somewhat distorted and too limited range to call these studies econometric, although this is what is usually done. The studies are rooted in a general theory of rational choice, and not in some rational choice theory presumably limited to economics.

In the framework of norm-guided rational behavior, norms may depend on the environment. In most criminometric studies norms, as well as wants, are assumed to be constant, and often also equal among individuals. Becker (1976, p. 5) expresses a rather common attitude by stating that "[s]ince economists generally have little to contribute, especially in recent times, to the understanding of how preferences are formed, preferences are assumed not to be very different between wealthy and poor persons, or even between persons in different societies and cultures." With this assumption it is relatively easy to test other parts of the theory, such as hypotheses about the effect of sanctions, and of gains and losses of legal and illegal activities. If preferences differ among individuals, estimates of the effects of sanctions will be relevant for an "average" person. The explicit assumption that individual preferences are constant distinguish criminometric studies from most other studies in criminology.

There are good reasons to carry out empirical studies of criminal behavior at the individual level instead of an aggregated level. In the first place it is at best controversial to posit that behavior is anything but individual. Second, the theoretic models that are developed are based on individual rational choice. Third, as will be discussed below, studies based on aggregated data require a number of additional assumptions of questionable validity. Forth, the statistical identification problem is less serious when individual behavior is studied. Using aggregated data one faces the problem of distinguishing between the effect of the probability of arrest on the amount of crime and the effect of the amount of crime on the probability of arrest. In empirical studies at the individual level, it can reasonably be assumed that the probability and severity of punishment is determined without being influenced by the actions of a given individual. Thus, the deterrence variables can be considered to be exogenous to the individual's choices, and the problem of simultaneity inherent in macro studies is absent. Unfortunately, empirical tests of these models by use of information on individuals are few. The application of the theoretic models to empirical studies is intricate (Manski, 1978), and suitable data are scarce. The data we have are mainly self-reports on criminal activity, and records of criminal activity compiled by the criminal justice system. The most serious problem with the latter type of data is that they do not constitute representative samples of the population, but are biased in the sense that only convicted persons are included. It is hardly possible to test a general theory of rational criminal behavior by studying only one subgroup of the offenders. A related problem is that most available data sources include information only about choices made, and not about those available, but not chosen. It is difficult, if not impossible to test a theory of rational choice if the choice set in this way is limited. Whereas such data are of limited interest for studies of general deterrence, that is of effects on people in general, they are useful for studies of special deterrence, that is of effects on the individuals that are punished.

The bulk of criminometric studies consists of cross-section regression analyses based on aggregated data. Some of them are rather broad, including many types of regional areas, estimation techniques, and types of crime, whereas others concentrate on particular types of crime, such as property crimes, hijacking, or homicide. A few of them address special questions, such as the effect of police "aggressiveness" in patrolling, or the influence of income differentials. Time-series studies are less numerous, and employ mostly data on total crime.

The majority of these empirical studies of crime have been evaluated in various surveys. In an annotated bibliography Beyleveld (1980) reviews a number of investigations of correlations between crime and deterrence variables, in addition to 35 cross-section and 31 timeseries econometric studies of crime. A thorough review of the empirical evidence of general deterrence is also given by Nagin (1978), who comments on 24 correlation and econometric studies, all but two also covered by Beyleveld. Taylor (1978) concentrates on six major econometric studies, whereas Pyle (1983) reviews the same studies and about 15 others. A shorter, but somewhat more up-to-date, review is Cameron (1988), and more recent comprehensive surveys are found in Eide (1994), Nagin (1998), and Freeman (1999). Reviews of certain parts of the literature are found in Fisher and Nagin (1978), Passell and Taylor (1977), Vandaele (1978), Klein *et al.* (1978), and Nagin (1978). In the most recent survey, covering both criminologic and economic factors influencing crime trends Marris (2000) includes 288 studies.

2.5.1 Empirical effects of punishment variables

In empirical studies the measures used to represent the probability of punishment include the probabilities of arrest, of clearance, of conviction, and of conviction given arrest. The severity of punishment is represented by the amount of fines, by the length of sentence, or by time served.

Some studies are based on individual data. Witte (1980) and Schmidt and Witte (1984) have employed individual data on postrelease activities of a random sample of 641 men released from prison in North Carolina. The effects on crime of measures of both the probability and the severity of punishment are found to be more or less negative. Myers Jr. (1983), using a sample of 2127 individuals released from US Federal prisons, finds that severity of punishment has a statistically significant negative effect on crime, whereas the probability measure (the ratio of previous prison commitments to previous convictions) has a positive effect. Higher wages are found to reduce recidivism. Trumbull (1989) has used data on about 2000 offenders released from prisons in North Carolina to study recidivism and special deterrence. He finds that none of the deterrence variables (probabilities of arrest, conviction and imprisonment, and length of sentence) are statistically significant. Trumbull finds this result natural, since the sample consists only of individuals who, whatever the probability and severity of punishment, have chosen to engage in illegitimate activities. However, an increase in an offender's own previous sentence length has a significant negative effect on crime, a result that corroborates the hypothesis of special deterrence. Higher earnings on the first job after release has a

negative effect on crime. Quite unexpectedly, so has unemployment. Viscusi (1986) uses an approach common in labor economics in the studies of hazardous jobs to estimate the risk/reward tradeoff for illegal activities. In labor markets increasing health risks are often rewarded by some amounts of money in addition to non-risk wages. Treating the probability and severity of punishment in the same manner as the probability and severity of injury are treated in analyses of hazardous jobs, Viscusi is able to estimate the effects of changes in these variables. A survey of 2358 inner-city minority youths from Boston, Chicago, and Philadelphia constitutes the data employed. Viscusi finds that the premiums obtained for criminal risks are strong and quite robust. In his framework this is interpreted as a corroboration of the general deterrence hypothesis. Studies of tax cheating based on individual data by Clotfelter (1983), Slemrod (1985), Witte and Woodbury (1985), and Klepper and Nagin (1989) all conclude that both the probability and the severity of punishment have negative effects upon crime.

Many studies of correlation between crime rates and punishment based on aggregated data appeared in the late sixties and early seventies. Using mostly US data on the state or municipal level these studies indicate a negative association between the certainty of arrest and the crime rate for different crime categories. But crime rates are not generally found to vary with the severity of imprisonment, although in some studies a deterrent effect is obtained for homicide and a couple of other crime categories.

A necessary condition for interpreting the results of these correlation studies (mostly carried out by sociologists) as estimates of deterrence is, of course, that there is a one-way causation from punishment to crime, and none in the opposite direction. The many subsequent cross-section criminometric studies allowed for a two-way causation by various specifications of the general model:

$$C = f(P, S, Z_j), \tag{2.3}$$

$$P = g(C, R, Z_k), \tag{2.4}$$

$$R = h(c, Z_l), \tag{2.5}$$

where C is the crime rate (number of crimes per population); P, the probability of punishment; S, the severity of punishment; R, resources

per capita of the criminal justice system (CJS); and Z_j, Z_k, Z_l are the vectors of socio-economic factors. The crime function (2.3) assumes that the crime rate is a function of the probability and the severity of punishment; Eq. (2.4) assumes that the probability of punishment is a function of the crime rate and the resources allocated to the CJS; and Eq. (2.5) assumes that the resources allocated to the CJS is a function of the crime rate. Various socio-economic factors are included as explanatory variables in all three equations. In some studies police resources are included as an explanatory variable in the crime function.

Among the first simultaneous regression analyses in this field we find Ehrlich (1972), Phillips and Votey (1972), and Orsagh (1973). The first major cross-section study appearing after Becker's theoretic article was Ehrlich (1973). He studies seven types of crimes in the USA based on data for all states from 1940, 1950, and 1960. He finds that the probability of imprisonment has a statistically significant negative effect on all types of crime, and, except for murder, not less for crimes against the person than for other crimes. The severity of punishment has a similar effect, but here only about half of the estimates are statistically significant. Crime is also found to be positively related to median family income (presumably more assets to steal) and to income differentials. Ehrlich's study has been thoroughly scrutinized by several authors, some of whom have given harsh evaluations of his work. Revisions, replications, and extensions of Ehrlich's studies by Forst (1976), Vandaele (1978), and Nagin (1978) resulted in more moderate deterrent effects of the probability and severity of punishment. Moreover, Forst found that by introducing variables thought to be correlated with the punishment variables, such as population migration and population density, the punishment variables became statistically insignificant. Nagin found that incapacitation could explain a large part of the apparent deterrent effect. In a fierce attack on Ehrlich's study Brier and Fienberg (1980) conclude an empirical investigation of the Ehrlich type that no deterrence effect of sanctions was found. A response to the criticism from these and other authors is found in Ehrlich (1977). Despite critical remarks by various authors, there is now a long list of studies similar to the one by Ehrlich.

The great majority of correlation studies and cross-section regression analyses show a clear negative association between punishment variables and the crime rate. Almost without exception the coefficients of the punishment variables (which usually are the elasticities of the crime rates with respect to the punishment variables) are negative, and in most of the cases significantly so. Furthermore, the estimated elasticities have rather high values. Eide (1994) summarizes such estimates of 20 cross-section studies based on a variety of model specifications, types of data and regression techniques (Danziger and Wheeler (1975), Ehrlich (1973), Eide (1973), Forst (1976), Holtmann and Yap (1978), Sjoquist (1973), Swimmer (1974), Trumbull (1989), Phillips and Votey (1975, 1981), Avio and Clark (1978), Blumstein and Nagin (1977), Carr-Hill and Stern (1979), Chapman (1976), Forst (1976), Furlong and Mehay (1981), Heineke (1978), Mathieson and Passell (1976), Mathur (1978), Myers Jr. (1980, 1982), Sesnowitz and Hexter (1982), Thaler (1977), Vandaele (1978), Wilson and Boland (1978) Willis (1983), Schuller (1986), Trumbull (1989)) Eide finds the median value of the 118 estimates of elasticities of crime rates with respect to various measures of the probability of punishment to be about -0.7. The median of the somewhat fewer severity elasticities is about -0.4. The rates of clearance by arrest are usually considered to be better measures of the certainty of sanction than the rates of conviction (Andenæs, 1975, p. 347). The median of the elasticities of arrest is found to be somewhat smaller than the median of the elasticities of conviction, but the difference is not great.

The most common punishment variable used in criminometric studies is the arrest rate. Only a few, such as Ehrlich (1973), Schmidt and Witte (1984), and Cornwell and Trumbull (1994), have included variables representing also the probability of conviction and the length of sentence. Mustard (2003) argues that the problem of omitted punishment variables may produce wrong estimates of the effect of arrest rates. Using county-level panel data from four US states he finds that arrest rates are negatively correlated with conviction rates and sentence lengths. All three punishment variables are found to have a negative effect on crime. Including only the arrest rate as explanatory punishment variable reduces the effect on crime of this variable by 50%. Until recently, cross-section studies relying on aggregate data have not controlled for unobserved heterogeneity. Using a panel dataset for North Carolina counties Cornwell and Trumbull (1994) address both unobserved heterogeneity and conventional simultaneity. Compared to previous studies, and to OLS estimates based on their own data, they obtain smaller deterrent effects of both the probability of arrest and that of conviction. However, the deterrent effects in their preferred estimation are no longer statistically significant. Also Eide *et al.* (1994), in a study using panel data from Norwegian police district, treat heterogeneity and simultaneity. For crime in general the elasticity of arrest is estimated to be about -0.9.

Almost all criminometric time-series studies give additional firm support to the hypothesis that the probability of punishment has a preventive effect on crime. In particular, this result is corroborated also for juvenile crime (Levitt, 1998). Note, however, that time-series studies at best reveal only short-term effects of changes in punishment variables. They usually do not consider the impact of incarceration on the behavior of criminals in the long run.

The results concerning the effect of the *severity* of punishment are somewhat less conclusive. Wahlroos (1981), using Finnish data, finds that the severity of punishment has a statistically significant deterrent effect on larceny, but not on robbery. Cloninger and Sartorius (1979), using data from the city of Houston in the USA, obtain a negative, but not statistically significant effect of the mean sentence length. Wolpin (1978), using a time-series for England and Wales in the period 1894– 1967, finds that the estimates of the effects of the length of sentences differ among types of crime, and are often not statistically significant. Schuller (1986) on the other hand, using Swedish data, finds a negative effect of the average time in prison. In an international comparison of crime among Japan, England, and the USA, Wolpin (1980) obtains firm support for the deterrent effect of the severity of punishment. Travaglini (2005) obtains a similar result in a panel study for Italy. These somewhat diverging results are not surprising. The theories surveyed above tell us that if there is a significant proportion of risk lovers in the population, and/or if the income effect is greater than the substitution effect, and/or the effects of legal activities are risky, and/or household protection expenditures are inversely related to the severity of punishment, an increase in the severity of punishment may well cause crime to increase on the macro level. If, however, in spite of these crime increasing effects, macro studies show that crime is reduced when punishment becomes more severe, there is all the more reason to believe in a deterrent and/or a norm formation effect of punishment.

Among the several empirical studies concentrating on just one type of crime, it is worth noting that Landes (1978) obtained firm support for the deterrence hypothesis for hijacking. In a study of draft evasion in the USA, Blumstein and Nagin (1977) avoid four of the main objections against criminometric studies (see discussion of objections below); draft evaders are likely to be well informed about possible sanctions; data are relatively error free; as draft evasion can happen only once, there is no danger of confounding incapacitation effects with deterrence effects; simultaneity problems caused by over-taxing of the CJS are unlikely because draft evasion was given priority in the relatively well-staffed federal courts. The authors consider that their results provide an important statistic confirmation of the existence of a deterrent effect. They find, however, that the severity of the formal sanction has a modest effect on draft evasion compared to the stigma effect of being arrested and convicted.

The economic model of crime suggests that changes in benefits and costs of committing a particular type of crime might have effects on the severity of other types of crime. If, for instance, the probability of being convicted for robbery increases, some robbers might shift to burglary. One crime is substituted for another, just as people buy more apples instead of oranges when the price of oranges goes up. Such substitution effects between crimes have been estimated by Heineke (1978), Holtmann and Yap (1978), and Cameron (1987). A certain number of statistically significant effects are found, indicating that some crimes are substitutes whereas others are alternatives.

Even if more severe punishment often is found to decrease crime, the impact is usually modest and also not statistically significant. Myopia among offenders might be a reason for this result. Lee and McCrary (2005) have studied the behavior of young offenders before and after the

day they turn 18 years. After that day they are legally treated as adults and face longer lengths of incarceration. Sufficiently patient individuals should therefore significantly lower their offending rates immediately on turning 18 years. Lee and McCrary (2005) find rather small behavioral changes and conclude that potential offenders are extremely impatient, myopic, or both. On the other hand, Shepherd (2002) has shown that "three strikes" laws deter even the first crime, suggesting that criminals are sufficiently rational to anticipate indirect consequences of their actions.

Incarceration might reduce crime both because of deterrence and because of incapacitation. In many empirical studies no effort is made to distinguish between the two effects. Focusing on this problem Levitt (1995) and Kessler and Levitt (1999), using various techniques, conclude that deterrence is the more important factor.

As a whole, criminometric studies clearly indicate a negative association between crime and the probability and severity of punishment. The result may be regarded as a rather firm corroboration of the deterrence explanation obtained from the theory of rational behavior: an increase in the probability or severity of punishment will decrease the expected utility of criminal acts, and thereby the level of crime. It should be remembered, however, that in some studies the effect of an increase in the severity of punishment is not statistically different from zero, and a statistically significant positive effect has also occasionally been obtained.

2.5.2 Empirical effects of police

Most studies that regress crime on police do not find statistically significant effects of the latter. Among the reasons for this result might be that only large increases in police resources may have a noticeable effect on crime, and that the police have many other duties than crime prevention. Marvell and Moody (1996), surveying 36 regression studies of the crime-police relationship, also argue that the lack of a revealed effect of police on crime also might be caused by the simultaneity problem. In their own time-series study of US states and cities a Granger test confirm that they have dealt with this problem in a suitable manner. Contrary to most other studies they find that police has a statistically significant effect on total crime at the level of cities. The point estimates indicate that police has a substantial impact on most types of crime both in cities and states. Buck *et al.* (1983), including both police presence and arrest rates as explanatory variables, find that the former rather than the latter has a deterrent effect. Klick and Tabarrok (2005) use the effect of terror alerts in Washington, DC, to measure the effects of police and find that police do reduce crime. Di Tella and Schargrodsky (2004) perform a similar analysis for Argentina using the police response to the bombing of the Jewish center in Buenos Aires, and also find that police deter crime. Evans and Owens (2006) use the COPS program, a federal program aimed at enabling localities to hire more police, to measure the effect of police on crime and also find that more police lead to reduced crime.

2.5.3 Empirical effects of income variables

In accordance with the theoretic models, most criminometric studies contain income variables representing some of the benefits and costs of legal and/or illegal activities.

2.5.3.1 Benefits of legal activities

Looking first at the benefits of legal activities, some studies corroborate the Becker-type models. Using a panel dataset of North Carolina, Cornwell and Trumbull (1994) find that high wages in legal activities are associated with low crime rates. Machin and Meghir (2000), using different wage measures in a time-series study of England and Wales, find that falls in wages of unskilled workers lead to increases in crime. Looking at these and several other studies together one is struck by great variety of proxies applied: median family income, median income, labor income to manufacturing workers, mean family income, mean income per tax unit, mean income per capita, etc. No systematic relationship appears between the income measures applied and the estimates obtained. Although the hypothesis that an increase in legal income opportunities decreases crime is not rejected in most of the studies, others would not reject the inverse hypothesis that an increase in legal income opportunities would increase crime. This ambiguity in results might be due to the fact that the income measures used represent benefits not only of legal activities, but also of illegal ones: Higher legal incomes (mostly wages) tend to make work more attractive than crime, but to the extent that higher legal income in a region produces a greater number of more profitable targets for crime, the same empirical income measure may be positively correlated with criminal activity. In addition, high legal incomes also mean high incomes foregone when incarcerated, a cost of crime that will have a negative effect on crime. If these mechanisms are at work simultaneously, and their relative strength is not universally constant, it is not surprising that the results of various studies differ. The theory is not necessarily deficient, but the methods applied do not distinguish between the two mechanisms. The main problem is that the incomes of legal and illegal activities are highly correlated, and that it is difficult (or impossible?) to find empirical measures that with enough precision can distinguish between their effects. The impact of income is further obfuscated by the fact that private security measures increase with income, while higher income probably reduces the marginal utility of each piece of property, and therefore also the measures taken to protect property. These problems of correlation are not present in studies where individual data are employed, such as Witte (1980) and Myers Jr. (1980).

2.5.3.2 Effects of gains from crime and costs of crime

Studies estimating the effect on crime of gains to crime underscore the problem of finding good empirical measures for theoretic variables. Whereas Ehrlich uses median family income as a measure of gains from crime, other authors use the same measure to represent *legal income* opportunities. A variety of measures of gains have been used, with diverse estimated effects on crime. An example is Dhiri *et al.* (1999). Modeling property crime trends in England and Wales they find a substantial effect on crime of the stock of goods. Glaeser and Sacerdote (1999), studying why there in the USA is more crime in large cities than elsewhere, find that higher pecuniary benefits from crime in large cities can explain up to one-quarter of the connection between city size
and crime rates. Corman and Mocan (2005) find that economic opportunity and various measures of deterrence both reduce crime. Imai and Krishna (2004) find that if punishment for crime reduces future employment opportunities, then there is a reduction in crime.

Income inequality. According to criminal statistics the well-to-do are less likely to commit crimes than the poor. In an empirical study of ex-convicts Lott (1992) finds that the reduction in income from conviction is extremely progressive, a result that corroborates the hypothesis that an increase in the costs of committing crimes has a negative effect on the amount of crime. Using a co-integration approach Saridakis (2004) finds in a time-series study for the USA during the period 1960–2000 that income inequality has only a minor effect on violent crime with the exception for murder, where a strong positive relation is obtained. He suggests that murder is a byproduct of crimes with economic incentives. In cross-country studies Fajnzylber et al. (1998, 2002a, 2002b) find a clear effect on crime of inequality. On the other hand, Neumayer (2005), extending the cross-country data set used by Fajnzylber et al., and controlling for country-specific effects, concludes that inequality is not a statistically significant determinant of crime.

A large income differential may indicate that crime is a comparatively rewarding activity for the very-low-income group (that may find a lot to steal from the very rich). Estimates of the effect of crime of income differentials also vary across studies. It is interesting to note, however, that a study which includes variables of both legal and illegal income opportunities in addition to one of income differential (Holtmann and Yap, 1978), obtains significant estimates of the expected signs for all three variables. Also Freeman (1995) concludes that wages from legitimate work and measures of inequality have the expected effects on crime.

Unemployment. Unemployment is usually included in criminometric studies as a proxy for (lack of) legal income opportunities. Unemployment will make crime (at least property crime) more attractive if the alternative is a life in poverty. The estimates of the effect of

unemployment on crime, however, are positive in some studies, and negative in others. A comprehensive survey by Chiricos (1987) demonstrates that unemployment in most studies seems to increase crime. He has reviewed 63 aggregate studies published in major journals of economics, sociology, and criminology containing 288 estimates of the relationship between unemployment and crime. He finds that 31% of the estimates were positive and statistically significant, whereas only 2%were negative and statistically significant. Most of the non-significant estimates were positive. A similar conclusion is obtained in a survey by Freeman (1995). Chiricos (1987) finds little support for the hypothesis that unemployment decreases the opportunity for criminal activity because of fewer and better protected criminal targets, an hypothesis that has been launched to explain why in some studies a negative relationship is obtained. Another explanation of such a negative association, suggested by Carr-Hill and Stern (1973), is that unemployed fathers stay at home and keep an eye on their delinquent sons. Furthermore, differences in results might be the variability in unemployment insurance schemes. In some places unemployment insurance is only slightly below ordinary legal income, and in addition, some of the formally unemployed receive income from short-term jobs. According to economic models of crime, the number of offenses will then not increase when unemployment increases. A decrease may even occur. The combination of unemployment insurance and criminal activity might be a preferred alternative. But if unemployment hits people without such income opportunities, the model indicates that crime will increase.

Several recent time-series analyses based on aggregated data show a positive correlation between unemployment and crime (e.g. see Cantor and Land (1985), Land *et al.* (1990), Pyle and Deadman (1994), Freeman and Rodgers (1999), Carmichael and Ward (2001), Entorf and Spengler (1998), Papps and Winkelmann (2000), Raphael and Winter-Ebmer (2001)). In a study based on pooled time-series crosssection data, Levitt (1995) finds a positive relation between unemployment and property crimes, whereas the relation between unemployment and violent crimes appears to be more mixed. Using Swedish panel data Edmark (2005) concludes that unemployment has a positive and significant effect on some property crimes. Gould *et al.* (2002) examine the impact of crime on both wages and unemployment. In their timeseries study of unemployment in the USA they conclude that both the factors are significantly (positively) related to crime, but that wages played the largest role. They also find that this result is robust to the inclusion of deterrence variables, controls for simultaneity, and controlling for individual and family characteristics.

2.5.4 Additional variables

In some studies routine activity and situational opportunity are included as main explanations of crime (*cf.* Cohen et al. (1980)). Chapman (1976), for instance, finds that the female participation rate in the labor market, a proxy for the proportion of unguarded homes, has a significant positive effect.

It has been argued that the rational choice framework might be relevant for certain property crimes, but not for violent crimes that are considered to be "expressive" and not "instrumental". Undoubtedly, the degree of "expressiveness" differs among crimes. Many empirical studies may be interpreted as support for the view that threat of punishment also has a preventive effect on "expressive" crime. At least substantial elements of rationality are revealed in a study of mugging by Lejeune (1977), in a study of rape and homicide by Athens (1980), and in a study of spouse abuse by Dobash and Dobash (1984). Although the effect of punishment may differ among types of crimes, evidence so far indicates that the rational choice framework is relevant for all types of crimes, and that analyses rejecting *a priori* that some particular types of crimes are deterrable are inadequate.

2.6 Methodologic Problems and Criticism

Objections to economic studies of criminal behavior have been many and occasionally fierce, (see e.g. Blumstein *et al.* (1988), Brier and Fienberg (1980), Blumstein *et al.* (1978), Orsagh (1979), Prisching (1982)) and Cameron (1988). In particular, studies based on aggregated data have been criticized. There is an ongoing discussion about which statistic techniques to use (Britt (2001), Cantor and Land (2001), Greenberg (2001a,b), Levitt (2001), O'Brien (2001), Paternoster and Bushway (2001)) and other methodologic problems. In addition to attacks on the assumption of rational behavior, the main criticism relates to interpretations of empirical results, to statistical identification of equations and unobserved heterogeneity, to measurement errors, and to operationalization of theoretic variables.

2.6.1 Interpretation of empirical results

It has been argued that many studies do not take into consideration that more certain or more severe punishment may prevent crime by two different mechanisms: either directly as a cost or indirectly through norm formation. A type of crime that is cleared up more and more seldom, or sanctioned more and more leniently, will easily be considered as not very serious by the population. Individual norms may adjust accordingly, people's crime aversion decreases, and consequently the level of crime increases. It seems true that in most empirical studies no effort is made to distinguish between this mechanism and the more direct deterrence effect of an increase in punishment. Results are often interpreted as a deterrent effect, and not as a general prevention effect where also the indirect norm formation mechanism is included.

Can criminometric studies possibly distinguish between the two mechanisms? In cross-section studies one can imagine that people living in regions where the clearance probability is low tend to consider crime as less serious than do people in other regions. If such differences in norm formation exist, they are probably more predominant the longer the distance between the regions that are compared, for instance in international comparisons, or in studies of states in the USA. It is not probable that norm formation differs among the districts within a rather small region, especially if news about punishment can be assumed to be more or less the same, and mobility of people is high. The effect on crime of variation in the severity of punishment found in studies using data from rather small areas within a region can therefore hardly be explained by a norm-formation mechanism. Where one obtains a negative relationship between the crime rate and the clearance probability when data representing counties of only one state (Avio and Clark (1978), Chapman (1976), Trumbull (1989)), or of police districts in a metropolitan area (Furlong and Mehay (1981), Mathieson and Passell (1976), Thaler (1977)), one will have reason to believe that the norm-formation mechanism must be of minor importance. The same holds true for some studies of substitution of crime which show that an increase in punishment of one type of property crime will have a statistically significant effect on the number of other property crimes. It is not probable that a higher probability of being punished for burglary has any effect on the norms regarding robbery. It is more reasonable to think that robbery is substituted for burglary because of a change in relative costs. Even if the importance of each mechanism is regarded as uncertain, the estimates obtained in various studies are still of interest. Not only from a political point of view, but also from a scholarly one, it may be useful to know that the probability of punishment has a certain negative effect on crime, notwithstanding the mechanism(s) involved.

Another possible uncertainty concerning the evaluation of results is that there might exist an underlying phenomenon, unknown and/or not studied, a phenomenon that at the same time produces a low crime rate and a high probability of punishment. Individual norms may create such a relationship. If people in one region appreciate each others' welfare more than on average, they will both have a relatively strong aversion against criminal infringements against others, and a high interest in clearing up crimes to decrease crime in general. If such differences in norms exist, they must be rooted in cultural differences of some kind. Possibly, such differences can develop if regions are situated far from each other, or if distance in time is substantial. For the smaller regions, such differences seem less realistic.

Theories of criminal behavior show that a whole series of "causes" may be involved, and that recorded differences in crime between regions, gender, races, drug abuse, etc. might be related to more fundamental explanations of crime, involving norms, wants, opportunities, and circumstances. The intricacy of relationships shows the difficulty in interpreting the estimates of the effects of crimes on such variables.

2.6.2 Identification and unobserved heterogeneity

If, in an empirical study, one finds that crime rates and probabilities of punishment are negatively correlated, one cannot easily distinguish between the hypothesis that higher probabilities of punishment cause lower crime rates (Eq. (2.3)), or the hypothesis that higher crime rates cause lower probabilities of punishment (because of police overloading, Eq. (2.4)). If such a simultaneity exists it is not acceptable to use the method of ordinary least squares (OLSs) to estimate each equation. Using the Hausman test Layson (1985) and Trumbull (1989) have for homicide found that simultaneity was not a problem in their data, and OLS could be applied. If simultaneity is present, the standard procedure to identify the first relation, the crime function, consists of introducing exogenous variables that have an effect on the probability of punishment, but not on the crime rate. In a discussion of the (im)possibility of identifying the crime function in macro studies, Fisher and Nagin (1978, p. 379) declare that they know of no such variables. The equations may be technically identified, but by false assumptions. (The consequence of this view is that attempts by this procedure to identify relations in empirical macro studies are illusory.) Marvell and Moody (1996) discuss how the simultaneity problem is (not) dealt with in a number of empirical studies. They suggest that Granger tests should be applied to test the direction of causation, a procedure that is found in rather few other studies. Aasness et al. (1994) have solved the problem of simultaneity by demonstrating that the structural parameters of the crime and clear-up functions are explicit functions of the theoretic second-order moments of crime and clear-up rates. In studies based on individual data, the question of identification is much less serious. (cf. above)

It is interesting to note that in the cross-section studies reviewed by Eide (1994) the method of ordinary least squares tend to give smaller estimates of the elasticities of crime with respect to the probability and severity of sanctions than do the methods of two stages least squares, full information maximum likelihood, and other more advanced methods. The difference in estimates is, however, not great. Cornwell and Trumbull (1994) point to the fact that aggregate cross-section econometric techniques do not control for unobserved heterogeneity. Addressing this problem by use of a panel data set of North Carolina counties, they obtain more modest deterrent effects on the arrest and conviction rates than those obtained from cross-section estimation.

2.6.3 Measurement errors

Since a substantial part of all crimes is not registered by the police, one may have serious doubts about the results of empirical studies based on official statistics. However, the problem of underreporting is not damaging to empirical research if the rate at which actual crimes are reported is constant across regions (in cross-section studies) or over the years (in time-series studies). This seems to be an implicit assumption in most studies. Blumstein *et al.* (1978) explain how differences in "dark numbers" between observational units create a spurious negative association between the recorded crime rate and the probability of clearance. Aasness et al. (1994) introduce, in addition to the recorded crime rate, a latent variable for the real crime rate, and relate the latter to the former by a linear function and a stochastic term. By this procedure measurement errors are given an explicit stochastic treatment that allows for a distribution of "dark numbers" among police districts. Deadman et al. (1997) present a thorough discussion of the effect of underreporting in statistic models of criminal activity. Investigating the biases because of underrecording in conventional regression analyses, Pudney et al. (2000) find that these biases are modest. Applying a simulated maximum likelihood procedure on data from England and Wales they obtain significant effects on crime of both economic and punishment variables.

The existence of a substantial "dark number" of crimes has fostered a greater interest in using victimization studies to obtain more reliable data. These studies give more or less similar results as those based on recorded crimes. A prominent example is Goldberg and Nold (1980) who find that the reporting rate, and thus the probability of clearance, has a great impact on the amount of burglaries. Another comprehensive study is Myers Jr. (1982), who obtains almost the same estimates of the effects of sanction variables by correcting crime rates by victimization data.

2.6.4 Wrong beliefs

If people have wrong beliefs, one may also question the validity of estimates of the effects of punishment variables and various socio-economic factors. Presumably, the true risk of sanction is not known to the individual. Empirical studies suggest that people tend to overestimate the average risk, while at the same time believing that the risk they themselves run is lower than average. Offenders, however, seem to be better informed. Wilson and Herrnstein (1985, p. 392) refer to a study where over 2000 inmates of jails and prisons in California, Michigan, and Texas were interviewed about their criminal careers. The study revealed a close correspondence between the actual and perceived risk of imprisonment in Michigan and Texas, whereas a somewhat weaker correspondence was found in California. The study further corroborated the theoretic result that an increase in the probability of imprisonment will decrease crime.

Even if beliefs to some extent are wrong, macro studies might still be of some value. It may well be that some persons do not observe a given change, and also that they have been mistaken in their beliefs. But the gradual change from very lenient to very harsh punishment will certainly be registered by at least a part of the population, and behavior will change, more or less, as already explained.

2.6.5 Various operationalizations

Many studies give weak arguments for the choice of theoretic variables (e.g. of variables of punishment, benefits and costs), and of their empirical measures. Orsagh (1979) argues that the great diversity of variables in empirical criminology shows that no good theory exists, and that macro studies of the usual kind have little interest. The objection is certainly relevant, but the consequence is not necessarily that such analyses should be avoided. Problems of operationalization do not make a theory irrelevant. Better than to drop such studies is to continue the theoretic discussion about determinants of crime, and produce more empirical studies, to improve the foundation for choosing acceptable measures of theoretic constructs. If various operationalizations produce similar results, there is reason to believe that the theory is robust to such differences. Then, one might even conclude that the theory is quite good, despite the fact that each and every formal test of significance is of limited value.

The studies reviewed above reveal quite consistent results as far as the sign of effects of the punishment variables is concerned. The insensitivity of these results to various operationalizations is comforting. The effects of income variables are less consistent, a result that might either imply that economic factors do not have a uniform effect on crime or that some, or all, of the operationalizations tried so far are unacceptable. Chisholm and Choe (2005) contribute to clarification of the effects of income variables by relating the net expected gains from crime to a measure of income inequality (the Gini coefficient) and the mean income of a society.

Several measures of punishment variables have been employed. When only one type of sanctions is included, one would expect that the effect assigned to this variable really includes effects of punishment variables correlated with the one included. A better alternative is to use several sanctions simultaneously, as proposed and employed by Witte (1980) and others.

2.7 The Case of Capital Punishment

In this section, we consider the special case of capital punishment. While the actual effect of capital punishment is relatively small, since is it not often used, it is an important issue since it is highly politically charged. Moreover, for many people, the belief in deterrence depends on whether or not capital punishment is a deterrent. We discuss the various sets of studies that have been done to examine this issue. The first two studies were by an economist, Ehrlich (1975, 1977). The first of these was a time-series study and the second was a cross-section state. While techniques have since advanced, these studies did begin the econometric analysis of capital punishment.

2.7.1 Modern economics papers using panel-data techniques

All of the modern papers "in economics journals" that use panel-data analysis find a deterrent effect.

Dezhbakhsh et al. (2003) examine whether deterrence exists using county-level panel data from 3054 US counties over the period 1977-1996. This is the only study to use county-level data, allowing a better estimation of the demographic, economic, and jurisdiction differences among US counties that can affect murder rates. Moreover, the large number of county-level observations extends the empirical tests' reliability. (Technically, it extends the analysis' degrees of freedom, increases variability, and reduces colinearity among variables.) This paper finds a substantial deterrent effect: both death row sentences and the executions themselves result in decreases in the murder rate. The conservative estimate is that each execution results in, on average, 18 fewer murders. The main finding, that capital punishment has a deterrent effect, is robust to many different ways of performing the statistical analysis. The deterrent effect remains with different choices of functional form (double-log, semi-log, or linear), state-level vs. county-level analysis, sampling period, endogenous vs. exogenous probabilities, and level vs. ratio specification of the main variables.

In another paper, Shepherd (2004) uses state-level, monthly panel data from 1977 to 1999 to examine two gaps in the capital punishment literature. First, this paper investigates the types of murders deterred by capital punishment. Some people in the debate on capital punishment's deterrent effect believe that certain types of murders are not deterrable. They claim that murders by intimates or crimes of passion are products of uncontrollable rage, and they are therefore nondeterrable. Others even argue that executions could even increase the number of murders by strangers, as the brutality of executions incites criminals. To the contrary, Shepherd finds that the combination of death row sentences and executions deters all types of murders: murders between intimates, acquaintances, and strangers, crime-of-passion murders and murders committed during other felonies, and murders of African-American and white people. (Intimates are defined as spouses, common-law spouses, parents, children, siblings, in-laws, step-relations, and other family. Crime-of-passion murders include lovers' triangles, murders by babysitters, brawls under alcohol, brawls under drugs, arguments over money, other arguments, and abortion-murders (i.e., abortions performed during the murder of the mother.)) The estimate from the paper is that each death row sentence deters approximately 4.5 murders and that each execution deters approximately 3 murders. The second issue that the paper addresses is the impact on deterrence of execution delays. This paper finds that that shorter waits on death row increase deterrence. Specifically, one extra murder is deterred for every 2.75-year reduction in the death row wait before each execution.

Dezhbakhsh and Shepherd (2003) use state-level panel data from 1960 to 2000 to examine capital punishment's deterrent effect. This is the only study to use data from before, during, and after the 1972–1976 Supreme Court moratorium on executions. First, the authors perform before-and-after moratorium comparisons by comparing the murder rate for each state immediately before and after it suspended or reinstated the death penalty. These before-and-after comparisons are informative because many factors that affect crime (e.g., law enforcement, judicial, demographic, and economic variables) change only slightly over a short period of time. In addition, the moratorium began and ended in different years in different states. Considering the different start and end dates, the duration of the moratorium varied considerably across states, ranging from 4 to 30 years. Observing similar changes in murder rates immediately after the same legal change in different years and in various states provides compelling evidence of the moratorium's effect on murder. The before-and-after comparisons reveal that about 91 percent of states experienced an increase in murder rates after they suspended the death penalty. In about 70 percent of the cases, the murder rate dropped after the state reinstated the death penalty. The paper supplements the before-and-after comparisons with time-series and panel-data regression analyses that, unlike many existing studies, use both pre- and postmoratorium data. The regressions disentangle the impact of the moratorium itself on murder from the effect of actual executions on murder; we find that the moratorium has a significant positive effect on murder and that executions have significant negative effects on murder. These estimates suggest that both adopting a capital statute and exercising it have strong deterrent effects. To test for robustness, the paper examines changes in our choice of regressors, estimation method, and functional form. The deterrent variables' coefficients are remarkably consistent in sign and significance across 84 different regression models. Before-and-after moratorium comparisons and regressions reveal that the death penalty does not cause a decrease in property crimes, suggesting that the deterrent effect is not reflecting general trends in crime.

Lott Jr. and Landes (2000) use state-level panel data from 1977 to 1995 to examine whether right-to-carry concealed handgun laws deter multiple-victim public shootings. Included in their analysis are tests of the deterrent effect of executions on murder. The authors find that right-to-carry concealed handgun laws do result in fewer multiple victim public shootings. They also find that executions have a significant deterrent effect on the overall murder rate. Specifically, a 1 percent increase in the execution rate is associated with a 7 percent decline in the overall murder rate.

Two papers by FCC economist Zimmerman (2004, 2006) find a deterrent effect. In his first paper, Zimmerman uses state-level panel data from 1978 to 1997 to examine the relationship between state execution rates and murder rates. In his second paper, he employs state-level panel data from 1978 to 2000 to examine which execution methods have the strongest deterrent effects. In both papers, Zimmerman finds a significant deterrent effect on capital punishment. He estimates that each execution deters an average of 14 murders and that executions by electrocution have the strongest impact.

Mocan and Gittings (2003) use state-level panel data from 1977 to 1997 to examine the relationship between executions, commutations, and murders. Again, the authors find a significant deterrent effect; they estimate that each execution deters an average of 5 murders. Their results also indicate that both commuting death row prisoners' sentences and removing them from death row cause increases in murder. Specifically, each commutation results in approximately 5 extra murders and each removal from death row generates 1 additional murder.

38 The Economics of Criminal Behavior

A recent paper by Katz *et al.* (2003) uses state-level panel data covering the period 1950 to 1990 to measure the relationship between prison conditions, capital punishment, and crime rates. They find that the nonexecution death rate among prisoners (a proxy for prison conditions) has a significant, negative relationship with overall violent crime rates and property crime rates; worse prison conditions deter crime. As expected, the execution rate has no statistically significant relationship with overall violent crime rates (which consist mainly of robbery and aggravated assault rates) and property crime rates; that is, executions have no effect on noncapital crimes. The authors estimate several different models to test for a relationship between the execution rate and murder rates. Although some specifications show no relationship, some estimations, and especially those that control for the economic and demographic differences among states, do produce a deterrent effect.

2.7.1.1 Modern economics papers using other techniques

Modern economics papers that use techniques other than panel data also all find deterrence.

Instead of a panel-data study, Cloninger and Marchesini (2001) conduct a portfolio analysis that is, in effect, a controlled group experiment: the Texas unofficial moratorium on executions during most of They find both that the moratorium appears to have caused additional homicides and that murder rates significantly decreased after the moratorium was lifted. Brumm and Cloninger (1996) use cross-section data covering 58 cities in 1985 to distinguish between criminals' perceived risk of punishment and the *ex post* risk of punishment measured by arrest rates, conviction rates, or execution rates. They find that the perceived risk of punishment, including the probability of execution, is negatively and significantly correlated with the homicide commission rate.

Two other papers, one by Ehrlich and Liu (1999) and the other by Liu (2004), use Ehrlich's original state-level, cross-section data. Both find a strong deterrent effect. The study by Ehrlich and Liu offers a theory-based sensitivity analysis of estimated deterrent effects. Liu's study uses switching regression techniques in estimations that take into account the endogenous nature of the status of the death penalty.

2.7.1.2 Modern papers by sociologists and criminologists

Sociologists have also studied the deterrent effect of capital punishment in several papers in sociology journals in the past decade. Although they employ empirical analysis, the methods they use are often very different from the methods used by economists. In contrast to the economics studies, most of the sociology studies find no deterrence.

Cochran et al. (1994) examined the deterrence question using weekly, time-series data from Oklahoma from 1989 to 1991. Although their weekly data is very disaggregated by time, the researchers severely restrict the number of observations in their study by limiting their analyses to the state of Oklahoma: they have only 156 observations. In fact, only one execution took place in Oklahoma during this period. Furthermore, the authors include no variables to control for demographic, economic, law enforcement, or other factors on murder rates. The researchers conclude that there is no deterrent effect because they find no evidence of deterrence after the one execution during their sample period. Bailey (1998) used the same data as Cochran et al. to explore the deterrence issue and finds no evidence of a deterrence effect. Although his data suffer from having few observations and only one execution, Bailey does extend the analyses to include control variables. Moreover, Bailey examines the effect of executions in other states on Oklahoma's murder rate. Although most capital punishment studies have assumed that deterrence is limited to the state where the execution occurs, Bailey measures whether there is a cross-state effect. He finds no evidence of a deterrent effect within states or across states.

A paper by Sorensen *et al.* (1999) tests the deterrence hypothesis in Texas. The authors use monthly time-series data from the state of Texas from 1984 to 1997, and find no deterrent effect when including the appropriate control variables. The authors restrict their analysis to an OLS regression which assumes that the causality between murder and law enforcement variables runs in only one direction: conviction rates, incarceration rates, and executions affect crime rates, but crime rates do not affect conviction rates, incarceration rates, or executions. In contrast, almost all other capital punishment papers assume that causality runs in both directions; for example, increasing murders may lead officials to direct more resources to fighting crime, increasing convictions, incarcerations, and executions. Ignoring the reverse causality can lead to biased results that underestimate, overestimate, or reverse the impact of law enforcement variables on crime.

Yunker (2002) tests the deterrence hypothesis using two sets of postmoratorium data: state cross-section data from 1976 to 1997 and national time-series data from 1930 to 1997. These data are vulnerable to many of the same criticisms as early economic studies: national timeseries data may cause aggregation bias and cross-section data cannot consider trends in crime or law enforcement variables and are unable to control for omitted jurisdiction-specific variables that may affect crime. He finds a strong deterrent effect in the time-series data that disappears when the data are limited to the 1930–1976 period. Therefore, he concludes that postmoratorium data is critical in testing of the deterrence hypothesis.

A paper by Berk (2005), a sociologist, finds that eliminating a few specific states from the data causes estimates of capital punishment's average impact on murders across all states to show no deterrence.

2.7.1.3 Modern papers in law reviews

Three empirical papers testing whether capital punishment deters have been published in law reviews in the past decade. Two find no deterrence and one finds mixed results. A fourth paper is a critical examination of many of the others.

Albert (1999) tests the deterrence hypothesis using state-level panel data from 1982 to 1994. He includes many of the same control variables as Ehrlich did in his early studies, but does not include any time variables. Like Ehrlich, he also performs both OLS regressions and twostage least squares regressions. Albert finds no evidence of a deterrent effect.

Stolzenberg and D'Alessio (2004) use monthly data and a different statistic procedure from other papers to examine the relationship between the frequency of executions, newspaper publicity, and the incidents of murder in Houston, Texas. They examine the period from January 1990 to December 1994. The authors include no control variables to capture changes in economic, demographic, or other factors during the time period. The authors report no deterrent effect.

Shepherd (2004) uses techniques similar to those in Dezhbakhsh et al. (2003) to examine the effect of capital punishment in each state. She finds that for states that do not execute many people, there is actually a "brutalization" effect–each execution seems to lead to increased homicides. However, for states that execute a sufficient number of persons, there is a deterrent effect. Since executing states had more executions, the net effect is that on a national level each execution did reduce homicides. She argues that these results in part explain the differences in findings between economists (who tend to look at all states, those executing many and those executing few persons) and sociologists, who tend to look at only a few states, which may not execute many persons. Ekelund *et al.* (2006) examine marginal deterrence. They find that capital punishment is a deterrent, but that it only deters the first homicide, not subsequent murders.

In an important paper in the *Stanford Law Review*, Donohue and Wolfers (2005) critically examine many of the papers cited above. They claim that capital punishment is used too erratically in the USA for there to be a detectable deterrent effect. They purport to find that the results in many of the papers cited above are spurious and due to econometric misspecifications. For example, many of the articles use a technique called "instrumental variables" to control for the simultaneous causality discussed above. Donohue and Wolfers claim that this technique is misused in these papers and if it were used correctly there would be no deterrent effect, or even an increase in homicides caused by executions. Although replies to their article may be currently in progress, the Donohue and Wolfer's paper has cast some doubt on the deterrence hypothesis.

2.8 Guns and Abortions

Two other empirical issues have generated substantial interest in the literature. One is the effect of allowing citizens to carry guns; the other is the effect of abortion on crime.

2.8.1 Guns

In a well-known paper, Lott Jr. and Mustard (1997) argued that states that allowed citizens to carry concealed weapons ("shall issue" laws) observed substantially reduced crime rates. These results have been highly controversial in the literature and have generated lively debates in journals, books, and on blogs. Dezhbakhsh and Rubin (1998, 2003) and Ayres and Donohue (1999) among others have written critiques of the Lott–Mustard analysis and Lott has replied in numerous places, including his books (Lott, 1998, 2003). A survey of this entire debate is beyond the scope of this paper; the interested reader is referred to the entry for Lott on Wikipedia; a Google Search of "Lott, guns, and crime" will also lead into the debate. An emerging consensus seems to be that concealed carry laws do not lead to the reductions in crime that Lott and Mustard found, but that they do not lead to the increases that critics had suggested, although Lott still believes that these laws lead to large decreases in crime.

2.8.2 Abortion and crime

In a well-known paper, Donohue III and Levitt (2001) argued and showed empirically that the liberalization of abortion laws led to lower crime rates some years later. The argument was that parents who wanted to abort children would otherwise have had unwanted children and the children would have been more likely to become criminals. This thesis was also a theme of a best-selling book (Levitt and Dubner, 2005). This paper has been criticized by Joyce (2003) and others, and Donohue III and Levitt (2004) have replied. This paper has been politically controversial because it deals with abortion, itself a highly controversial issue. However, it has been less controversial among academics, although there has been some debate as indicated above. Again, there is a Wikipedia article "Legalized abortion and crime effect" that is a lead into the relevant literature and controversy.

The Economics of Public Criminal Law Enforcement

If criminals can be deterred, a society wishing to maximize social welfare should determine the best way to achieve deterrence. (For surveys of the theory of public law enforcement that include formal modeling, see Garoupa (1997), Mookherjee (1997), Polinsky and Shavell (2005).) In this section, we focus on public enforcement of crime, the detecting and sanctioning of criminal offenders by government agents. (There has also been substantial work on the advantages and disadvantages of private enforcement: see Becker and Stigler (1974), Benson (1998), Landes and Posner (1975), Polinsky (1980).) Although Beccaria (1995), Bentham (1789), and other scholars began writing about public law enforcement in the 1800s, Becker (1968) was the first to develop a formal economic model for public criminal law enforcement.

The economic theory of public law enforcement is based on a specific perception of justice as efficiency. (Ehrlich (1982) discusses perceptions of justice.) Under this perception, the purpose of public law enforcement is to maximize social welfare, where social welfare is the benefits that individuals obtain from crime minus the costs of committing crime, the costs of harm to victims, and the costs of enforcement. (Many researchers have questioned whether the benefits that individuals obtain from crime should be considered. For a discussion, see Lewin and Trumbull (1990), Shavell (1985), Stigler (1970).) The government can maximize the social welfare function through three policy instruments: (i) the probability of capture and punishment, (ii) the length of prison terms, and (iii) the level of fines.

The socially optimal deterrence occurs at the point where the marginal social cost of additional deterrence equals the marginal social benefit. Following most of the literature, we focus on optimal enforcement when deterrence is a goal. (Incapacitation as a goal has received much less attention. See Shavell (1987) and Ehrlich (1981) for a discussion of optimal enforcement when incapacitation is a goal.) Under the traditional definition, efficient deterrence balances the marginal costs of enforcement and the reduction in illegal gains to criminals against the marginal benefit of harm reduction. Thus, deterrence is inefficient if the marginal gains to criminals plus marginal enforcement costs exceed the marginal harm to victims. However, many researchers have questioned whether the gains to criminals should be considered. If we ignored these gains, optimal deterrence would occur at the point where the marginal enforcement costs equal the marginal harm to victims. With fewer costs of deterrence to consider (i.e., ignoring the reduction in criminal gains that results from deterrence), the socially optimal level of deterrence increases.

In this section, we focus on optimal law enforcement policies. After discussing the optimal choice between probability and severity and between fine and imprisonment, we consider several extensions of the basic theories: risk preferences, imperfect information, targeted and general enforcement, repeat offenders, reductions in enforcement costs, and incentives of enforcers. (For other extensions, see Garoupa (1997), Polinsky and Shavell (2005).)

3.1 Probability and Severity

After determining the optimal level of deterrence, law enforcement should decide how to produce the expected penalty that achieves the optimal deterrence. In her decision to commit a crime, a criminals' expected penalty is the product of the probability of punishment and

Probability of sanction	Severity of sanction	Expected penalty
100%	100	100
50%	200	100
25%	400	100
10%	1000	100

Table 3.1 Combinations of certainty and severity with identical expected penalties: the risk neutral case.

the severity of punishment. As law enforcement is responsible for both of these, it must choose the optimal combination of probability and severity to achieve the desired expected penalty. Andreoni (1991) and Malik (1990) have asked whether the probability and severity can be set independently.

Table 3.1 shows several combinations of probability and severity (presented as either a fine or the cost of imprisonment) that produce identical expected penalties.

If potential offenders are risk neutral and have no wealth constraints, all of the combinations of probability and severity should produce identical levels of deterrence.

It is relatively cheap for society to increase the severity of sanctions. Increasing a monetary fine imposes almost no additional collection costs, rather it generates additional revenue for society. Thus, a low-probability/high-fine combination will achieve the same deterrence as a high-probability/low-fine combination, but at much lower cost to society. Absent the complications we discuss in the next few sections, a high-fine/low-probability combination is the optimal because it reduces enforcement costs.

In contrast to fines, increasing the severity of imprisonment imposes additional enforcement costs on society; see Kaplow (1990a). Nevertheless, it may still be relatively cheaper to increase the severity of imprisonment than to increase the probability of sanctions. As in the case of fines, absent the complications discussed below, the optimal combination of probability and severity is a long prison sentence and low probability. Although the longer prison sentences increase enforcement costs, fewer individuals are imprisoned, which decreases enforcement costs and offsets the increase from longer sentences. Thus, regardless of the form of sanction, high severity and low probability is, in general, the optimal combination because it achieves deterrence at the lowest possible cost. Polinsky and Shavell (1984) show that some underdeterrence may be optimal. Factors that may contradict this generality are discussed below, but first we discuss the optimal choice of fines versus imprisonment.

3.2 Fines and Imprisonment

Criminal sanctions can be monetary or nonmonetary. As we discussed in the previous section, fines impose little cost on society, and even generate revenue. In contrast, imprisonment imposes substantial enforcement costs on society. Thus, fines are the preferred sanction. However, a combination of fines and imprisonment is necessary in many situations. If a fine exceeds an individual's wealth level, then the individual's expected penalty will be less than the expected penalty that law enforcement anticipated when selecting the probability and severity of sanctions. For example, in Table 3.1, a probability of 10% and a fine of \$1000 for an individual with a wealth level of only \$500 will achieve an expected penalty of only \$50 instead of \$100. When there are wealth constraints, the fine should be set as high as possible, equal to the individual's wealth level. A prison sentence should also be imposed to bring the expected penalty to the desired level. Polinsky and Shavell (1984) discuss the optimal combination of fines and imprisonment,

3.3 Risk Preferences

The previous discussion of optimal certainty and severity assumed that criminals are risk neutral. When criminals are either risk averse or risk loving, the optimal combination of probabilities and sanctions may differ.

First, consider the case where individuals are risk averse in sentences so that their disutility of the expected penalty rises more than in proportion to the expected penalty. In the case of prison sentences, this could result from an increasing desire for freedom or growing distaste for the prison environment as the time in prison increases (Polinsky

Probability of sanction	Severity of sanction	Disutility of expected on penalty Expected p	
100%	100	100	100
40%	200	100	80
10%	400	100	40
1%	1000	100	10

Table 3.2 Combinations of certainty and severity with identical disutility; the risk averse case.

and Shavell, 2005). Risk-averse individuals prefer a certain penalty, f, to an uncertain penalty with a mean of f.

Table 3.2 shows several combinations of certainty and severity (presented as either a fine or the cost of imprisonment) that produce the same disutility, but have different expected penalties. In contrast to the risk-neutral case where combinations with equal expected penalties produce equal deterrence, as severity increases, combinations with lower expected penalties produce equal deterrence.

With risk-neutral offenders, high fines and low probability of punishment are optimal because it achieves deterrence at the lowest possible cost. Similarly, as long as imprisonment costs are less than enforcement costs, long sentences and low probability of punishment are optimal. However, when offenders are risk averse, it is not clear that a 1 percent probability of a \$1000 fine is more optimal than the other combinations in Table 3.2. Although enforcement costs are low, the expected fine, and therefore fine revenue is also low. If the decrease in fine revenue is greater than the savings in enforcement cost, the highfine combination could be a more expensive combination. This was first shown in Polinsky and Shavell (1979). See also Kaplow (1992) and Chu and Jiang (1993). In contrast, if the sanctions in Table 3.2 were prison sentences instead of fines, then low expected sentences would not be costly. That is, the 1 percent probability of a 1000-day sentence has both low enforcement costs and low-imprisonment costs. Thus, when offenders are risk averse, the high-sentence/low-probability combination is unambiguously the optimal combination.

Next, consider the case when offenders are risk loving in sanctions; their disutility of the expected penalty rises less than in proportion to the expected penalty. In the case of prison sentences, this could occur

Probability of sanction	Severity of sanction	Disutility of expected penalty	Expected penalty
100%	100	100	100
60%	200	100	120
40%	400	100	160
30%	1000	100	300

Table 3.3 Combinations of certainty and severity with identical disutility; the risk-loving case.

for several reasons: if the disutility from the stigma of prison does not increase with the length of imprisonment, if more brutalization of prisoners occurs at the beginning of a sentence, or if discounting of future disutility makes earlier years in prison seem worse than later years. (Risk-loving individuals prefer a uncertain penalty with a mean of f to a certain penalty, f.)

Table 3.3 shows several combinations of certainty and severity (presented as either a fine or the cost of imprisonment) that produce the same disutility, but have different expected penalties. In the risk-loving case, as severity increases, combinations with higher expected penalties produce equal deterrence.

If Table 3.3 referred to fines, then the optimal combination of certainty and severity would be high fine and low probability. This combination would achieve the same deterrence as other combinations, and the expected fine, or fine revenue, would be high and enforcement costs would be low.

If Table 3.3 referred to prison sentences, then the optimal combination may not be the long-sentence/low-probability combination. Because the increase in prison sentences is proportionally larger than the decrease in probability, the expected penalty, or expected prison term rises. If the cost of longer imprisonment exceeds the savings in enforcement costs, then the high-sanction/low-probability combination would not be the cheapest way to achieve deterrence (Polinsky and Shavell, 1999).

3.4 Imperfect Information

Although we have assumed that individuals know the probability and magnitude of punishment, it is rare that individuals have accurate information about these variables. Obviously, deterrence depends not on the actual probabilities and magnitudes, but on the perceptions of them. Imperfect information about these variables has an important impact on optimal deterrence policy. Bebchuk and Kaplow (1992) first demonstrated that inaccurate perceptions about the probability of punishment call for lower than maximal sanctions. They illustrate the problem with the following example. Suppose that the socially optimal expected penalty is 10. The maximal possible sanction is 500, which requires a probability of 2 percent. Alternatively, the government could impose a sanction of 100 and a probability of 10 percent. Suppose, however that half of the individuals overestimate the probability by 1 percent and half of the individuals underestimate the probability by 1 percent. Under the 500 sanction, half of the individuals will face an expected penalty of 5 (1 percent * 500) and the other half will face an expected penalty of 15 (3 percent * 500). Under the 100 sanction, half of the individuals will face an expected penalty of 9 (9 percent * 100) and the other half will face an expected penalty of 11 (11 percent * 100). Obviously, under the 500 sanction, there will be greater overdeterrence of the overestimating individuals and greater underdeterrence of the underestimating individuals. If this loss of social welfare is greater than the increase in enforcement costs from 2 to 10 percent, then the 100 sanction is better than the 500 sanction.

Similarly, Garoupa (1999) first explored how imperfect perceptions about the magnitude of sanctions affect optimal law enforcement policy. He concludes that the maximal sanction is still optimal. He presents the following example. Consider the same actual sanctions and actual probabilities as in Bebchuk and Kaplow (1992) illustration. Suppose, however, that half of the individuals overestimate the sanction by 50 and half of the individuals underestimate the sanction by 50. Under the 500 sanction, half face an expected penalty of 11 (2 percent * 500) and half face an expected penalty of 9 (2 percent * 450). Under the 200 sanction, half face an expected penalty of 15 (10 percent * 150) and half face an expected penalty of 5 (10 percent * 50). The result is reversed from Bebchuck and Kaplow's result; in this case the maximal sanction produces less underdeterence and overdeterrence. Thus, it is still socially optimal.

50 The Economics of Public Criminal Law Enforcement

Hence, the degree and type of imperfect information is important to consider when determining optimal law enforcement policy. Kaplow (1990b) discusses imperfect information about whether acts are subject to sanctions. Sah (1991) discusses how individuals form perceptions about probabilities. Anderson (2002) finds that convicts have little information about probabilities or magnitudes of sanctions. However, those who have committed crimes and been caught and convicted are an obviously biased sample of all potential criminals (including those who were actually deterred) and so it is not clear what weight to put on this finding.

3.5 Targeted and General Enforcement

Enforcement is often *general* in the sense that many different types of crimes can be detected by the same enforcement effort. For example, a police officer on a street corner could observe a mugging, or a drug deal, or a traffic violation. In contrast, some types of enforcement effort are *specific* because they will only detect one type of crime, or even a specific crime. For example, detectives investigate specific crimes that have already occurred.

Specific enforcement permits independent section of the probability of detection for each crime. Thus, the standard law enforcement policies are optimal: in general, sanctions should be as high as possible and probabilities should be as low as possible to achieve a given level of deterrence. In contrast, as shown by Shavell (1991) and Mookherjee and Png (1992), with general enforcement, the optimal sanction should increase with the severity of the harm from the criminal act. Suppose law enforcement is concerned with deterring two crimes: a more serious crime which imposes substantial harm on victims and a less serious crime. Because the probabilities of detection are the same for different crimes under general enforcement, the probability for one crime cannot be lowered without reducing the probability of another crime. Thus, it would be impossible to impose the maximal sanction for both crimes, but to reduce the probability of detection for the less serious crime below that of the more serious crime so that the expected penalties reflect the marginal social benefits of enforcement. Instead, the maximal sanction should be imposed for the more serious crime and the combined probabilities of detection should be adjusted so that the expected penalty achieves the desired level of deterrence. Then, the sanction for the lesser crime should be reduced so that the expected penalty achieves the desired level of deterrence for the lesser crime.

This policy will also accomplish marginal deterrence which increases social welfare. (For more detailed discussions of marginal deterrence, see Mookherjee and Png (1994), Shavell (1992), Stigler (1970), Wilde (1992).) By creating a schedule of sanctions which increases with the severity of the crime, potential offenders will substitute out more serious crimes and into lesser crimes where they face lower expected penalties. Other more serious crimes may be avoided without a resulting increase in lesser crimes: a robber that would murder a potential eyewitness if the sanctions for robbery and murder were the same may choose not to murder the eyewitness if the sanction for murder was greater than the sanction for robbery. Although the lower expected penalties will increase lesser crimes, the reduction in harm from the decrease in more serious crimes may more than offset the increase in harm from the lesser crimes, increasing social welfare.

3.6 Repeat Offenders

Repeat offenders are typically punished more severely than first-time offenders for the same offense. Several studies have explored whether this is the optimal strategy.

If deterrence is at the optimal level so that the only crimes that occur are ones where the marginal harm to victims is less than the marginal gains to criminals plus marginal enforcement cost, then an offender's offense history is irrelevant to the sanction decision. Increasing sanctions on subsequent acts based on offense history instead of the costs and benefits of the marginal deterrence of the subsequent act would likely overdeter repeat offenders. Thus, only if deterrence is below the socially optimal level would offense history matter to deterrence. There are several reasons why it may be optimal to increase sanctions for repeat offenders. First, as discussed in Polinsky and Rubinfeld (1991), Rubinstein (1979), and Chu et al. (2000), a prior criminal record signals that an individual has a higher propensity to commit criminal acts because either the costs of crime are lower for her or the benefits of crime are higher. Thus, higher sanctions are necessary to deter these high-risk offenders. Second, Polinsky and Shavell (1998) show imposing higher sanctions on subsequent crimes increases the cost of committing first offenses; not only does a first offense carry an immediate penalty, but also increases future penalties. Thus, higher sanctions for subsequent crimes may deter first crimes. Third, Miceli and Bucci (2005) argue that a repeat offender has already suffered the social stigma of conviction from the first offense. The cost of committing subsequent crimes is less because they do not carry the potential cost of social stigma. Thus, other costs of subsequent crimes, like the expected sanction, must be increased to maintain deterrence. Finally, as Polinsky and Rubinfeld (1991) argue, repeat offenders may be better able to avoid detection and apprehension of subsequent crimes because they understand the system and have a larger criminal network. If the probability of punishment is lower for repeat offenders, the magnitude of punishment must be higher to maintain deterrence.

Burnovski and Safra (1994) and Emons (2003) have presented theories where it may be optimal to lower sanctions for repeat offenders. For example, if cumulative sanctions are limited by either wealth constraints or death that limits prison terms, shifting dollar fines, or prison years from a second-offense penalties to first-offense penalties may increase deterrence because the probability of being caught once is greater than the probability of being caught twice. Thus, with higher sanctions for first-time offenders, there is a higher expected cumulative sanction. Polinsky and Rubinfeld (1991) argue that high sanctions for first-time offenders will prevent all crimes but those with the highest net benefit, so that the only offenders that become second-time offenders are individuals that receive a very high net benefit from crime. Hence, it is not socially optimal to prevent these crimes with higher sanctions. Dana (2001) argues that repeat offenders actually face higher probabilities of detection because law enforcement already has a record of their criminal activity. Thus, lower sanctions are necessary to offset the higher penalties to prevent overdeterrence. Finally, Rubinstein (1980)

argues that individuals with specific utility functions may commit more crimes if the sanction for the first crime is lower than the sanction for the second crime.

3.7 Enforcement Errors

Two errors are possible in law enforcement: Type I errors result when individuals are convicted of crimes they did not commit and Type II errors result when individuals are exonerated of crimes they did commit.

There are three costs of the enforcement errors. First, there is the social cost resulting from the miscarriage of justice. Second, errors reduce the expected benefit of enforcement, reducing the socially optimal level of enforcement efforts. Finally, enforcement errors decrease deterrence. Type II errors decrease the expected penalty for criminal acts, increasing criminal activity. Type I errors decrease the difference in the net payoffs between criminal activity and non-criminal activity, increasing criminal activity. Moreover, Type I errors lead to Type II errors when a mistaken conviction results in an actual offender getting away with a crime.

The first two costs suggest that there should be less enforcement effort: Ehrlich (1982) and Miceli (1991) argue that penalties should be lower to reduce the miscarriage of justice resulting from Type I errors and fewer resources should be spent on either detection and/or imprisonment to balance the expected benefits and costs of enforcement. Moreover, increasing the sanction when there is the possibility of mistakes will impose additional costs on risk averse individuals that do not violate the law. Polinsky and Shavell (1979) and Block and Sidak (1980) argue that sanctions should be lower on risk-averse individuals when there are enforcement errors. In contrast, the third cost suggests that the expected penalty should be increased to offset the errors' effect and achieve a desired level of deterrence, thus increasing enforcement effort and resources. Either effect could dominate and lead to either a higher or lower optimal enforcement.

Regardless, errors impose large social costs and resources should spent to reduce them, as discussed in Kaplow and Shavell (1994a).

3.8 Reductions in Enforcement Costs

In this section, we discuss the two most common ways to minimize enforcement costs: plea bargains and self-reporting.

Plea bargains benefit both offenders and public enforcement by reducing litigation costs. In addition, plea bargains benefit risk-averse parties be eliminating the risk inherent in trials. (For a detailed discussion of the benefits of plea bargains, see Grossman and Katz (1983), Kobayashi and Lott Jr. (1992), Landes (1971), Miceli (1996), Polinsky and Rubinfeld (1989), Reinganum (1988).) Plea bargains reduce deterrence; by definition, offenders prefer plea bargains because the expected disutility of penalties is lower (Polinsky and Rubinfeld, 1989). However, the magnitude of punishment imposed under plea bargains could be increased to offset this reduction in deterrence.

As discussed by Kaplow and Shavell (1994b), Malik (1993), and Innes (1999, 2000), self-reporting also lowers enforcement costs by removing the need of law enforcement to detect, apprehend, and convict offenders. Moreover, self-reporting benefits risk-averse individuals by eliminating risk. Self-reporting may also decrease future harm if future criminal acts are prevented. Thus, law enforcement should encourage self-reporting by lowering the sanctions imposed on offenders that self-report. However, the sanctions should not be substantially lower than the sanctions without self-reporting to maintain deterrence at the socially optimal level.

3.9 Incentives of Enforcers

The previous sections assumed that law enforcement desires to maximize social welfare. However, the social goal of law enforcement as a whole and goals of individual law enforcers may differ substantially. In this section, we discuss two types of law enforcement behaviors that may oppose the goals for welfare maximization: corruption (Bowles, 2000) and rent-seeking.

Corruption can take two forms: bribery, where law enforcers accept payments in return for not reporting crimes or apprehending offenders, and extortion, where law enforcers demand payments for not falsely accusing individuals. Both types of corruption will increase crime. Bribery reduces deterrence by lowering expected penalties; by definition, the bribe payment is less than the potential sanction. Extortion reduces deterrence by reducing the difference in the net payoffs between criminal activity and non-criminal activity. Different policies can reduce the law enforcers' incentives to engage in corruption. Penalties for corrupt behavior will increase the cost of engaging in bribery or extortion. (See Bowles and Garoupa (1997) for a discussion. Polinsky and Shavell (2001) discuss why there should be no penalties for the victims of extortion.) Also, rewards for reporting bribery and extortion may reduce this behavior. In addition, paying efficiency wages to law enforcers will increase the costs of corrupt behavior because they stand more to lose if they are caught. Finally, lowering potential sanctions may reduce corruption; the higher the sanction an offender faces, the more he or she is willing to pay to avoid the sanction. However, although lowering the sanction will reduce corruption and the increase in crime that accompanies corruption, it will directly reduce deterrence by lowering expected penalties. (See Becker and Stigler (1974), Mookherjee and Png (1995), which discuss additional aspects of corruption.)

The government and law enforcement may also engage in rentseeking behavior that does not maximize social welfare. The motivation under rent seeking is to maximize the sum of revenues minus the harms to the government and expenditure on law enforcement. As a rentseeking government cares primarily about revenue and ignores harm to non-government victims, it will set expected penalties for major crimes too low, underdeterring these crimes. However, it will set expected penalties for minor crimes too high to increase revenue from minor violations, and thus will overdeter these crimes from a social welfare perspective. Although the public choice literature has long had this view of government, Freidman (1999) first argued that the law enforcement literature fails to consider the self-interest of the government. Miceli (1996) and Glaeser *et al.* (2000) have explored what prosecutors maximize. Garoupa and Klerman (2002) also discuss rent seeking.

Conclusion

The economic analysis of criminal behavior and criminal law has been by any measure a hugely successful enterprise. As an academic enterprise, it has achieved the goal of research—it has generated a large and growing literature. Indeed, it is a very successful branch of law and economics, itself a flourishing enterprise. This may be because hypotheses in the economics of crime are sharp and testable and, because there is substantial data available for testing these hypotheses.

More important than academic success, however, is the influence of this branch of learning on actual practice. When Becker began his research, the standard view among students of crime was that prison served no useful purpose except revenge. The demonstration over the past 40 years of the existence of deterrence effects and rational responses by criminals has caused a substantial rethinking by virtually everyone in the criminal justice system of the purpose and functioning of that system. Since the ultimate justification for resources spent on social science research must be to improve the functioning of society, we may say that in this area we scholars have earned our keep.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Conny Chen, Crain Linton and Christopher Meeks for research assistance. Much of Section I is an expanded and updated version of Eide (2000).

References

- Aasness, J., E. Eide, and T. Skjerpen (1994), 'Criminometrics, latent variables, panel data, and different types of crime'. *Statistics Norway* 124. Discussion paper.
- Albert, C. J. (1999), 'Challenging deterrence: New insights on capital punishment derived from panel data'. University of Pittsburgh Law Review 60, 321–371.
- Allingham, M. G. and A. Sandmo (1972), 'Income tax evasion: A theoretical analysis'. Journal of Public Economics 1, 323–338.
- Andenæs, J. (1975), 'General prevention revisited: Research and policy implications'. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology 66, 338–365.
- Anderson, D. A. (2002), 'The deterrence hypothesis and picking pockets at the pickpockets hanging'. American Law and Economics Review 4, 295–313.
- Andreoni, J. (1991), 'Reasonable doubt and the optimal magnitude of fines: Should the penalty fit the crime?'. RAND Journal of Economics 22, 385–395.
- Athens, L. H. (1980), Violent Criminal Acts and Actors: A Symbolic Interactionist Study. Boston: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Avio, K. L. and C. S. Clark (1978), 'The supply of property offences in Ontario: Evidence on the deterrent effect of punishment'. *Canadian Journal of Economics* 11, 1–19.
- Ayres, I. and J. J. Donohue (1999), 'Nondiscretionary concealed weapons laws: A case study of statistics, standards of proof, and public policies'. American Law and Economics Review 1(1 and 2), 436–470.
- Bailey, W. C. (1998), 'Deterrence, brutalization, and the death penalty: Another examination of Oklahoma's return to capital punishment'. *Criminology* 36, 711–733.
- Baldry, J. C. (1974), 'Positive economic analysis of criminal behaviour'. In: A. J. Culyer (ed.): *Economic Policies and Social Goals*. pp. 171–198, Martin Robertson.
- Bebchuk, L. A. and L. Kaplow (1992), 'Optimal sanctions when individuals are imperfectly informed about the probability of apprehension'. *Journal of Legal Studies* 21, 365–370.
- Beccaria, C. (1995). In: R. Bellamy (ed.): On Crimes and Punishments, and Other Writings (1767). Cambridge University Press.
- Becker, G. S. (1968), 'Crime and punishment: An economic approach'. Journal of Political Economy 76, 169–217.
- Becker, G. S. (1976), *The Economic Approach to Human Behavior*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Becker, G. S. and G. J. Stigler (1974), 'Law enforcement, malfeasance, and compensation of enforcers'. *Journal of Legal Studies* **3**, 1–18.
- Benson, B. L. (1998), To Serve and Protect: Privatization and Community in Criminal Justice. New York: New York University Press.
- Bentham, J. (1789), 'An introduction to the principles of morals and legislation'. In: *The Utilitarians*. Garden City NY, Anchor Books.
- Bentham, J. (1843), 'Principles of Penal Law'. In: J. Bowring (ed.): The Works of Jeremy Bentham, Vol. 1 of 1962. Russell & Russell.
- Berk, R. (2005), 'New claims about executions and general deterrence: Déjà Vu all over again?'. Journal of Empirical Legal Studies 2, 303–330.
- Beyleveld, D. (1980), A Bibliography on General Deterrence Research. Westmead UK: Saxon House.

- Block, M. K. and J. M. Heineke (1975), 'A labor theoretic analysis of the criminal choice'. *American Economic Review* **65**, 314–325.
- Block, M. K. and R. C. Lind (1975), 'An economic analysis of crimes punishable by imprisonment'. *Journal of Legal Studies* 4, 479–492.
- Block, M. K. and J. G. Sidak (1980), 'The cost of antitrust deterrence: Why not hang a price fixer now and then?'. *Georgetown Law Journal* 68, 1131–1139.
- Blumstein, A., J. Cohen, and D. S. Nagin (eds.) (1978), Deterrence and Incapacitation: Estimating the Effects of Criminal Sanctions on Crime Rates. Washington, DC: National Academy of Sciences.
- Blumstein, A. and D. S. Nagin (1977), 'The deterrent effect of legal sanctions on draft evasion'. *Stanford Law Review* **29**, 241–276.
- Bowles, R. (2000), 'Corruption'. In: B. Bouckaert and G. D. Geest (eds.): *Encyclopedia of Law and Economics*. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited, pp. 460–491.
- Bowles, R. and N. Garoupa (1997), 'Casual police corruption and the economics of crime'. *International Review of Law and Economics* 17, 75–87.
- Brier, S. S. and S. E. Fienberg (1980), 'Recent econometric modeling of crime and punishment: Support for the deterrence hypothesis'. *Evaluation Review* 4, 147–191.
- Britt, C. L. (2001), 'Testing theory and the analysis of time series data'. Journal of Quantitative Criminology 17, 343–357.
- Brown, W. W. and M. O. Reynolds (1973), 'Crime and punishment: Risk implications'. *Journal of Economic Theory* 6, 508–514.
- Brumm, H. J. and D. O. Cloninger (1996), 'Perceived risk of punishment and the commission of homicides: A covariance structure analysis'. Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization 31, 1–11.
- Buck, A. J., M. Gross, S. Hakim, and J. Weinblatt (1983), 'The deterrence hypothesis revisited'. *Regional Science and Urban Economics* 13, 471–486.
- Burnovski, M. and Z. Safra (1994), 'Deterrence effects of sequential punishment policies: Should repeat offenders be more severely punished?'. International Journal of Industrial Organization 11, 341– 350.

- Cameron, S. (1987), 'Substitution between offence categories in the supply of property crime: Some new evidence'. International Journal of Social Economics 14, 48–60.
- Cameron, S. (1988), 'The economics of crime deterrence: A survey of theory and evidence'. Kyklos 41, 301–323.
- Cantor, D. and K. C. Land (1985), 'Unemployment and crime rates in the Post-World War II United States: A theoretical and empirical analysis'. American Sociological Review 50, 317–323.
- Cantor, D. and K. C. Land (2001), 'Unemployment and crime rate fluctuations: A comment on Greenberg'. Journal of Quantitative Criminology 17, 329–341.
- Carmichael, F. and R. Ward (2001), 'Male unemployment and crime in England and Wales'. *Economics Letters* 73, 111–115.
- Caroll, J. and F. Weaver (1986), "Shoplifters' perceptions of crime opportunities: A process-tracing study'. In: D. B. Cornish and R. V. Clarke (eds.): *The Reasoning Criminal*. pp. 18–38, Springer-Verlag.
- Carr-Hill, R. A. and N. H. Stern (1973), 'An econometric model of the supply and control of recorded offences in England and Wales'. *Journal of Public Economics* 2, 289–318.
- Carr-Hill, R. A. and N. H. Stern (1979), Crime, The Police and Criminal Statistics. Academic Press, London.
- Chapman, J. I. (1976), 'An economic model of crime and police: Some empirical results'. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 13, 48–63.
- Chiricos, T. G. (1987), 'Rates of crime and unemployment: An analysis of aggregate research evidence'. *Social Problems* **34**, 187–212.
- Chisholm, J. and C. Choe (2005), 'Income variables and the measures of gains from crime'. Oxford Economic Papers 57, 112–119.
- Chu, C. Y. C., S. Hu, and T. Huang (2000), 'Punishing repeat offenders more severely'. *International Review of Law and Economics* **20**, 127–140.
- Chu, C. Y. C. and N. Jiang (1993), 'Are fines more efficient than imprisonment?'. *Journal of Public Economics* **51**, 391–413.
- Cloninger, D. O. and R. Marchesini (2001), 'Execution and deterrence: A quasi-controlled group experiment'. Applied Economics 35, 569–576.

- Cloninger, D. O. and L. Sartorius (1979), 'Crime rates, clearance rates and enforcement effort: The case of Houston, Texas'. American Journal of Economics and Sociology 4, 389–402.
- Clotfelter, C. T. (1983), 'Tax evasion and tax rates: An analysis of individual returns'. *Review of Economics and Statistics* **65**, 363–373.
- Cochran, J. K., M. B. Chamlin, and M. Seth (1994), 'Deterrence or brutalization? An impact assessment of Oklahoma's return to capital punishment'. *Criminolog* **32**, 107–134.
- Cohen, L. E., M. Felson, and K. Land (1980), 'Property crime rates in the United States: A macrodynamic analysis 1947–1977 with Ex Ante Forecasts for the Mid-1980s'. American Journal of Sociology 86, 90–118.
- Cook, P. J. (1986), 'The demand and supply of criminal opportunities'.
 In: M. Tonry and N. Morris (eds.): *Crime and Justice: An Annual Review of Research*. pp. 1–28, University of Chicago Press.
- Corman, H. and N. Mocan (2005), 'Carrots, sticks, and broken windows'. Journal of Law and Economics 46, 235–266.
- Cornwell, C. and W. N. Trumbull (1994), 'Estimating the economic model of crime with panel data'. The Review of Economics and Statistics 76, 360–366.
- Dana, D. A. (2001), 'Rethinking the puzzle of escalating penalties for repeat offenders'. Yale Law Journal 110, 733–783.
- Danziger, S. and D. Wheeler (1975), 'The economics of crime: Punishment or income distribution'. *Review of Social Economy* pp. 113–131.
- Deadman, D., D. Pyle, and S. Pudney (1997). The effect of underreporting in statistical models of criminal activity: Estimation of an error correction model with measurement error, Department of Economics, University of Leicester, Discussion Paper in Economics 97/3.
- Dezhbakhsh, H., P. Rubin, and J. M. Shepherd (2003), 'Does capital punishment have a deterrent effect? New evidence from postmoratorium panel data'. American Law and Economics Review 5, 344–376.
- Dezhbakhsh, H. and P. H. Rubin (1998), 'Lives saved or lives lost? The effects of concealed-handgun laws on crime'. The American Economic Review 88(2), 468–474.

- Dezhbakhsh, H. and P. H. Rubin (2003), 'The effect of concealed handgun laws on crime: Beyond the dummy variables'. *International Review of Law and Economics* **23**(2), 199–216.
- Dezhbakhsh, H. and J. M. Shepherd, 'The deterrent effect of capital punishment: Evidence from a 'Judicial Experiment". *Economic Inquiry*, vol. 44, forthcoming 2006, *available at* http://ei .oxfordjournals.org/cgi/reprint/ cbj032v1.
- Dhiri, S., S. Brand, R. Harries, and R. Price (1999), 'Modeling and predicting property crime trends in England and Wales'. In: *Home* Office Research Study, Vol. 198. Home Office.
- Di Tella, R. and E. Schargrodsky (2004), 'Do police reduce crime? Estimates using the allocation of police forces after a terrorist attack'. *American Economic Review* **94**, 115–133.
- Dobash, R. E. and R. P. Dobash (1984), 'The nature and antecedents of violent events'. British Journal of Criminology 24, 269–288.
- Donohue, J. J. and J. Wolfers (2005), 'Uses and abuses of empirical evidence in the death penalty debate'. *Stanford Law Review* 58, 791–846.
- Donohue III, J. J. and S. D. Levitt (2001), 'The impact of legalized abortion on crime'. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* **116**(2), 379–420.
- Donohue III, J. J. and S. D. Levitt (2004), 'Further evidence that legalized abortion lowered crime: A reply to joyce'. Journal of Human Resources 39, 29–49.
- Edmark, K. (2005), 'Unemployment and crime: Is there a connection?'. Scandinavian Journal of Economics 107, 353–373.
- Ehrlich, I. (1972), 'The deterrent effect of criminal law enforcement'. Journal of Legal Studies 1, 259–276.
- Ehrlich, I. (1973), 'Participation in illegitimate activities: A theoretical and empirical investigation'. *Journal of Political Economy* 81, 521–565.
- Ehrlich, I. (1975), 'The deterrent effect of capital punishment: A question of life and death'. *American Economic Review* **65**, 397–417.
- Ehrlich, I. (1977), 'Capital punishment and deterrence: Some further thoughts and additional evidence'. *Journal of Political Economy* 85, 741–788.

- Ehrlich, I. (1981), 'On the usefulness of controlling individuals: An economic analysis of rehabilitation, incapacitation and deterrence'. *American Economic Review* **71**, 307–332.
- Ehrlich, I. (1982), 'The market for offences and the public enforcement of laws: An equilibrium analysis'. *British Journal of Psychology* **21**, 107–120.
- Ehrlich, I. (1996), 'Crime, punishment and the market for offenses'. Journal of Economic Perspectives 10, 43–67.
- Ehrlich, I. and Z. Liu (1999), 'Sensitivity analysis of the deterrence hypothesis: let's keep the econ in econometrics'. *Journal of Law and Economics* **42**, 455–488.
- Ehrlich I. in co-operation with R. Mark *et al.* (1977), 'Fear of deterrence: A critical evaluation of the 'report of the panel on research on deterrent and incapacitative effects' '. *Journal of Legal Studies* 6, 293–316.
- Eide, E. (1973), 'Economics of criminal behavior'. Encyclopedia of Law and Economics 5, 345–369.
- Eide, E. (1995), 'RDEU models of crime'. Institutt for Privatrett University of Oslo, Working Paper Law and Economics, C1.
- Eide E., in cooperation with, J. Aasness and T. Skjerpen (1994), Economics of Crime: Deterrence and the Rational Offender, Contributions to Economic Analysis. Oxford and Tokyo: North-Holland, Amsterdam.
- Ekelund, R. B., J. D. Jackson, R. W. Ressler, and R. D. Tollison (2006), 'Marginal deterrence and multiple murders'. Southern Economic Journal 72, 521–541.
- Emons, W. (2003), 'A note on the optimal punishment for repeat offenders'. *International Review of Law and Economics* 23, 253–259.
- Entorf, H. and H. Spengler (1998), 'Socio-economic and demographic factors of crime in germany: Evidence from panel data of the German states'. *International Review of Law and Economics* **20**, 75–106.
- Evans, W. N. and E. Owens (2006), 'COPS and crime'. Forthcoming.
- Fajnzylber, P., D. Lederman, and N. Loayza (1998), Determinants of Crime Rates in Latin America and the World – An Empirical Assessment. Washington, DC: . The World Bank.

- Fajnzylber, P., D. Lederman, and N. Loayza (2002a), 'Inequality and violent crime'. Journal of Law and Economics 45, 1–40.
- Fajnzylber, P., D. Lederman, and N. Loayza (2002b), 'What causes violent crime?'. European Economic Review 46, 1323–1356.
- Fisher, F. M. and D. S. Nagin (1978), 'On the feasibility of identifying the crime function in a simultaneous model of crime rates and sanction levels'. In: A. Blumstein, J. Cohen, and D. S. Nagin (eds.): Deterrence and Incapacitation: Estimating the Effects of Criminal Sanctions on Crime Rates. pp. 361–399, National Academy of Sciences.
- Forst, B. (1976), 'Participation in illegitimate activities: Further empirical findings'. Policy Analysis 2, 477–492.
- Freeman, R. B. (1995), 'The labor market'. In: J. Q. Wilson and J. Petersilia (eds.): *Crime*. pp. 171–191, Institute for Contemporary Studies.
- Freeman, R. B. (1999), 'The economics of crime'. In: O. Ashenfelter and D. Card (eds.): Handbook of Labor Economics, Vol. 3. pp. 3529–3571.
- Freeman, R. B. and W. M. Rodgers III (1999), 'Area economic conditions and the labor market outcomes of young men in the 1990s expansion'. NBER Working Paper 7073.
- Freidman, D. (1999), 'Why not hang them all: The virtues of inefficient punishment'. Journal of Political Economy 107, 259–269.
- Furlong, W. J. and S. L. Mehay (1981), 'Urban law enforcement in Canada: An empirical analysis'. *Canadian Journal of Economics* 14, 44–57.
- Garoupa, N. (1997), 'The theory of optimal law enforcement'. Journal of Economic Surveys 11, 267–295.
- Garoupa, N. (1999), 'Optimal law enforcement with dissemination of information'. *European Journal of Law and Economics* 7, 183–196.
- Garoupa, N. and D. Klerman (2002), 'Optimal law enforcement with a rent-seeking government'. *American Law and Economics Review* 4, 116–140.
- Glaeser, E. L., D. P. Kessler, and A. M. Piehl (2000), 'What do prosecutors maximize? An analysis of the federalization of drug crimes'. *American Law and Economics Review* 2, 259–290.

- Glaeser, E. L. and B. Sacerdote (1999), 'Why is there more crime in cities?'. Journal of Political Economy 107, S225–S258.
- Goldberg, I. and F. C. Nold (1980), 'Does reporting deter burglars? An empirical analysis of risk and return in crime'. *Review of Economics* and Statistics 62, 424–431.
- Gould, E., B. Weinberg, and D. Mustard (2002), 'Crime rates and local labor market opportunities in the united states: 1979–1995'. *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 84, 45–61.
- Greenberg, D. F. (2001a), 'On theory, models, model-testing, and estimation'. Journal of Quantitative Criminology 17, 409–422.
- Greenberg, D. F. (2001b), 'Time series analysis of crime rates'. Journal of Quantitative Criminology 17, 291–327.
- Grossman, G. M. and M. L. Katz (1983), 'Plea bargaining and social welfare'. American Economic Review 73, 749–757.
- Heineke, J. M. (ed.) (1978), Economic Models of Criminal Behaviour. North Holland, Amsterdam.
- Holtmann, A. G. and L. Yap (1978), 'Does punishment pay?'. Public Finance 33, 90–97.
- Imai, S. and K. Krishna (2004), 'Employment, deterrence, and crime in a dynamic model'. *International Economic Review* 45, 845–872.
- Innes, R. (1999), 'Remediation and self-reporting in optimal law enforcement'. Journal of Public Economics 72, 379–393.
- Innes, R. (2000), 'Self-reporting in optimal law enforcement when violators have heterogeneous probabilities of apprehension'. *Journal of Legal Studies* 29, 287–300.
- Joyce, T. (2003), 'Did legalized abortion lower crime?'. Journal of Human Resources 38, 1–37.
- Kaplow, L. (1990a), 'A note on the optimal use of nonmonetary sanctions'. Journal of Public Economics 42, 245–247.
- Kaplow, L. (1990b), 'Optimal deterrence, uninformed individuals, and acquiring information about whether acts are subject to sanctions'. *Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization* 6, 93–128.
- Kaplow, L. (1992), 'The optimal probability and magnitude of fines for acts that definitely are undesirable'. *International Review of Law* and Economics 12, 3–11.

- Kaplow, L. and S. Shavell (1994a), 'Accuracy in the determination of liability'. Journal of Law and Economics 37, 1–15.
- Kaplow, L. and S. Shavell (1994b), 'Optimal law enforcement with selfreporting of behavior'. Journal of Political Economy 102, 583–606.
- Katz, L., S. D. Levitt, and E. Shustorovich (2003), 'Prison conditions, capital punishment, and deterrence'. American Law and Economics Review 5, 318–343.
- Kessler, D. and S. D. Levitt (1999), 'Using sentence enhancements to distinguish between deterrence and incapacitation'. *Journal of Law* and Economics 42, 343–363.
- Klein, L. R., B. Forst, and V. Filatov (1978), 'The deterrent effect of capital punishment: An assessment of the estimates'. In: A. Blumstein, J. Cohen, and D. S. Nagin (eds.): Deterrence and Incapacitation: Estimating the Effects of Criminal Sanctions on Crime Rates. Washington, DC, pp. 336–360, National Academy of Sciences.
- Klepper, S. and D. S. Nagin (1989), 'The anatomy of tax evasion'. Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization 5, 1–24.
- Klick, J. and A. Tabarrok (2005), 'Using terror alert levels to estimate the effect of police on crime'. *Journal of Law and Economics* 48, 267–279.
- Kobayashi, B. H. and J. R. Lott Jr. (1992), 'Low-probability-highpenalty enforcement strategies and the efficient operation of the pleabargaining system'. *International Review of Law and Economics* 12, 69–77.
- Kolm, S. C. (1973), 'A note on optimal tax evasion'. Journal of Public Economics 2, 265–270.
- Land, K. C., P. McCall, and L. Cohen (1990), 'Structural covariates of homicide rates: Are there any invariances across time and social space'. *American Journal of Sociology* 95, 922–963.
- Landes, W. M. (1971), 'An economic analysis of the courts'. Journal of Law and Economics 4, 61–107.
- Landes, W. M. (1978), 'An economic study of U.S. aircraft hijacking, 1961–1976'. Journal of Law and Economics 21, 1–31.
- Landes, W. M. and R. Posner (1975), 'The private enforcement of law'. Journal of Legal Studies 4, 1–46.

- Lattimore, P. and A. Witte (1986), 'Models of decision making under uncertainty: The criminal choice'. In: D. B. Cornish and R. V. G. Clarke (eds.): *The Reasoning Criminal*. pp. 129–155, Springer Verlag.
- Layson, S. K. (1985), 'Homicide and deterrence: A reexamination of the United States time series evidence'. Southern Economic Journal 52, 68–89.
- Lee, D. S. and J. McCrary (2005), 'Crime, punishment, and myopia'. *NBER Working Paper*.
- Lejeune, R. (1977), 'Management of a mugging'. Urban Life 6, 123–148.
- Levitt, S. D. (1995), 'Why do increased arrests rates appear to reduce crime: Deterrence, incapacitation, or measurement error?'. *Economic Inquiry* 36, 353–372.
- Levitt, S. D. (1998), 'Juvenile crime and punishment'. Journal of Political Economy 106, 1156–1184.
- Levitt, S. D. (2001), 'Alternative strategies for identifying the link between unemployment and crime'. Journal of Quantitative Criminology 17, 377–390.
- Levitt, S. D. and S. Dubner (2005), *Freakonomics: A Rogue Economist Explains the Hidden Side of Everything*. New York: HarperCollins.
- Lewin, J. L. and W. N. Trumbull (1990), 'The social value of crime?'. International Review of Law and Economics 10, 271–284.
- Liu, Z. (2004), 'Capital punishment and the deterrence hypothesis: Some new insights and empirical evidence'. *Eastern Economic Jour*nal **30**, 237–258.
- Lott Jr., J. R. (1992), 'Do we punish high income criminals too heavily?'. *Economic Inquiry* **30**, 583–608.
- Lott Jr., J. R. (1998), More Guns, Less Crime: Understanding Crime and Gun Control Laws. University of Chicago Press.
- Lott Jr., J. R. (2003), The Bias Against Guns: Why Almost Everything You've Heard about Gun Control is Wrong. Regnery Publishing. Inc.
- Lott Jr., J. R. and W. M. Landes (2000), 'Multiple victim public shootings, bombings, and right-to-carry concealed handgun laws: Contrasting private and public law enforcement'. John M. Olin Law and Economics Working Paper No. 73, University of Chicago Law School.

- Lott Jr., J. R. and D. B. Mustard (1997), 'Crime, deterrence, and rightto-Carry concealed handgun laws'. *Journal of Legal Studies*.
- Machin, S. and C. Meghir (2000), 'Crime and economic incentives'. *The Institute For Fiscal Studies Working Paper*, Department of Economics, University College, London, W 00/17.
- Malik, A. S. (1990), 'Avoidance, screening and optimum enforcement'. RAND Journal of Economics 21, 341–353.
- Malik, A. S. (1993), 'Self-reporting and the design of policies for regulating stochastic pollution'. Journal of Environmental Economics and Management 24, 241–257.
- Manski, C. F. (1978), 'Prospects for Inference on Deterrence through Empirical Analysis of Individual Criminal Behavior'. In: A. Blumstein, J. Cohen, and D. S. Nagin (eds.): Deterrence and Incapacitation: Estimating the Effects of Criminal Sanctions on Crime Rates. National Academy of Sciences, pp. 400–424, Washington DC.
- Marris, R. and V. Consulting (2000), 'Survey of the research literature on the criminological and economic factors influencing crime trends'. Report to the British Home Office, http://www.homeoffice .gov.uk/rds/pdfs2/occ80modellingsup.pdf.
- Marvell, T. B. and C. E. Moody (1996), 'Specification problems, police levels, and crime rates'. *Criminology* 34, 609–646.
- Mathieson, D. and P. Passell (1976), 'Homicide and robbery in New York City: An economic model'. Journal of Legal Studies 5, 83–98.
- Mathur, V. K. (1978), 'Economics of crime: An investigation of the deterrent hypothesis for urban areas'. *Review of Economics and Statistics* **60**, 459–466.
- Miceli, T. J. (1991), 'Optimal criminal procedure: Fairness and deterrence'. International Review of Law and Economics 11, 3–10.
- Miceli, T. J. (1996), 'Plea bargaining and deterrence: An institutional approach'. *European Journal of Law and Economics* **3**, 249–264.
- Miceli, T. J. and C. Bucci (2005), 'A simple theory of increasing penalties for repeat offenders'. *Review of Law and Economics* 1, 71–80.
- Mocan, H. N. and R. K. Gittings (2003), 'Getting off death row: Commuted sentences and the deterrent effect of capital punishment'. *Journal of Law and Economics* 46, 453–478.

- Mookherjee, D. (1997), 'The economics of enforcement'. In: A. Bose, M. Rakshit, and A. Sinha (eds.): *Issues in Economic Theory and Policy, Essays in Honor of Tapas Majumdar*. New Delhi, pp. 202– 249, Oxford University Press.
- Mookherjee, D. and I. P. L. Png (1992), 'Monitoring vis-à-vis investigation in enforcement of law'. *American Economic Review* 82, 556–565.
- Mookherjee, D. and I. P. L. Png (1994), 'Marginal deterrence in enforcement of law'. Journal of Political Economy 102, 1039–1066.
- Mookherjee, D. and I. P. L. Png (1995), 'Corruptible law enforcers: How should they be compensated?'. *Economic Journal* **105**, 145–159.
- Mustard, D. B. (2003), 'Reexamining criminal behavior: The importance of omitted variable bias'. *The Review of Economics and Statistics* **85**, 205–211.
- Myers Jr., S. L. (1980), 'Why are crimes underreported? What is the crime rate? Does it really matter?'. Social Science Quarterly 6, 23–43.
- Myers Jr., S. L. (1982), 'Crime in urban areas: New evidence and results'. *Journal of Urban Economics* **11**, 148–158.
- Myers Jr., S. L. (1983), 'Estimating the economic model of crime: Employment versus punishment effects'. Quarterly Journal of Economics 98, 157–175.
- Nagin, D. S. (1978), 'General deterrence: A review of the empirical evidence'. In: A. Blumstein, J. Cohen, and D. S. Nagin (eds.): Deterrence and Incapacitation: Estimating the Effects of Criminal Sanctions on Crime Rates. pp. 95–139, National Academy of Sciences.
- Nagin, D. S. (1998), 'Criminal deterrence research at the outset of the twenty-first century'. In: M. Tondry (ed.): Crime and Justice: A Review of Research. Chicago University Press.
- Nagin, D. S. and R. A. Paternoster (1993), 'Enduring individual differences and rational choice theories of crime'. Law and Society Review 27, 467–496.
- Neumayer, E. (2005), 'Inequality and violent crime: Evidence from data on robbery and violent theft'. *Journal of Peace Research* **42**, 101–112.
- Niggli, M. A. (1994), 'Rational choice theory and crime prevention'. Studies on Crime and Crime Prevention 3, 83–103.

- O'Brien, R. M. (2001), 'Theory, operationalization, identification, and the interpretation of different differences in time series models'. *Jour*nal of Quantitative Criminology 17, 359–375.
- Ormerod, P., C. Mounfield, and L. Smith (2003). Non-linear modeling of burglary and violent crime in the UK. in *Modeling Crime and Offending: Recent Developments in England and Wales*, Occasional Paper No 80, Home Office, Section B.
- Orsagh, T. (1973), 'Crime, sanctions and scientific explanation'. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology 64, 354–361.
- Orsagh, T. (1979), 'Empirical criminology: Interpreting results derived from aggregate data'. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency 16, 294–306.
- Papps, K. and R. Winkelmann (2000), 'Unemployment and crime: New evidence for an old question'. New Zealand Economic Papers 34, 53–72.
- Passell, P. and J. B. Taylor (1977), 'The deterrent effect of capital punishment: Another view'. American Economic Review 67, 445–451.
- Paternoster, R. and S. D. Bushway (2001), 'Theoretical and empirical work on the relationship between unemployment and crime'. *Journal* of *Quantitative Criminology* **17**, 391–402.
- Phillips, L. and H. L. Votey Jr. (1972), 'An economic analysis of the deterrent effect of law enforcement on criminal activity'. *Journal of Criminal Law, Criminology and Police Science* 63, 330–342.
- Phillips, L. and H. L. Votey Jr. (1975), 'Crime control in California'. Journal of Legal Studies 4, 327–349.
- Phillips, L. and H. L. Votey Jr. (1981), The Economics of Crime Control. Beverly Hills: Sage Publications.
- Polinsky, A. M. (1980), 'Private versus public enforcement of fines'. Journal of Legal Studies 9, 105–127.
- Polinsky, A. M. and D. L. Rubinfeld (1989), 'A note on optimal public enforcement with settlements and litigation costs'. *Research in Law* and Economics 12, 1–8.
- Polinsky, A. M. and D. L. Rubinfeld (1991), 'A model of optimal fines for repeat offenders'. *Journal of Public Economics* 46, 291–306.

- Polinsky, A. M. and S. Shavell (1979), 'The optimal tradeoff between the probability and magnitude of fines'. *American Economic Review* 69, 880–891.
- Polinsky, A. M. and S. Shavell (1984), 'The optimal use of fines and imprisonment'. *Journal of Public Economics* 24, 89–99.
- Polinsky, A. M. and S. Shavell (1998), 'On offense history and the theory of deterrence'. *International Review of Law and Economics* 18, 305–324.
- Polinsky, A. M. and S. Shavell (1999), 'On the disutility and discounting of imprisonment and the theory of deterrence'. *Journal of Legal Studies* 28, 1–16.
- Polinsky, A. M. and S. Shavell (2001), 'Corruption and optimal law enforcement'. *Journal of Public Economics* 81, 1–24.
- Polinsky, A. M. and S. Shavell (2005), 'The theory of public enforcement of law'. John M. Olin Center for Law, Economics, and Business Discussion Paper No. 529, available at http://ssrn.com/ abstract=850264.
- Prisching, M. (1982), 'Sozioökonomische bedingungen der kriminalität. Über empirische divergenzen und theoretische kontroversen (Socio-economic conditions of criminality. On empirical divergencies and theoretical controversies)'. Monatsschrift für Kriminologie und Strafrechtsreform 65, 163–176.
- Pudney, S., D. Deadman, and D. Pyle (2000), 'The relationship between crime, punishment and economic conditions: Is reliable inference possible when crimes are under-recorded?'. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society* 163, 81–97.
- Pyle, D. J. (1983), The Economics of Crime and Law Enforcement. London: MacMillan.
- Pyle, D. J. and D. F. Deadman (1994), 'Crime and the business cycle in post-war Britain'. British Journal of Criminology 34, 339–357.
- Raphael, S. and R. Winter-Ebmer (2001), 'Identifying the effect of unemployment on crime'. *Journal of Law and Economics* 44, 259–283.
- Reinganum, J. F. (1988), 'Plea bargaining and prosecutorial discretion'. American Economic Review 78, 713–728.

- Rubinstein, A. (1979), 'An optimal conviction policy for offenses that may have been committed by accident'. In: S. J. Brams, A. Schotter, and G. Schwödiauer (eds.): Applied Game Theory. Wurzburg, pp. 406–413, Physica-Verlag.
- Rubinstein, A. (1980), 'On an anomaly of the deterrent effect of punishment'. *Economics Letters* 6, 89–94.
- Sah, R. K. (1991), 'Social osmosis and patterns of crime'. Jouurnal of Political Economy 99, 1272–1295.
- Saridakis, G. (2004), 'Violent crime in the United States of America: A time-series analysis between 1960–2000'. European Journal of Law and Economics 18, 203–221.
- Schmidt, P. and A. D. Witte (1984), An Economic Analysis of Crime and Justice: Theory, Methods, and Applications. New York: Academic Press.
- Schuller, B.-J. (1986), Ekonomi och Kriminalitet: En Empirisk Undersöking av Brottsligheten i Sverige. Economiska studier utgivna av Nationalekonomiska institutionen vid Göteborgs Universitet.
- Sesnowitz, M. L. and L. Hexter (1982), 'Economic determinants of theft: Some empirical results'. *Public Finance Quarterly* 10, 489–498.
- Shavell, S. (1985), 'Criminal law and the optimal use of nonmonetary sanctions as a deterrent'. *Columbia Law Review* **85**, 1232–1262.
- Shavell, S. (ed.) (1987), A model of optimal incapacitation, Vol. 77 of American Economic Review: Papers and Proceedings, pp. 107–110.
- Shavell, S. (1991), 'Specific versus general enforcement of law'. Journal of Political Economy 99, 1088–1108.
- Shavell, S. (1992), 'A note on marginal deterrence'. International Review of Law and Economics 12, 345–355.
- Shepherd, J. M. (2002), 'Fear of the first strike: The full deterrent effect of California's two- and three-strikes legislation'. *Journal of Legal Studies* **31**, 159–201.
- Shepherd, J. M. (2004), 'Murders of passion, execution delays, and the deterrence of capital punishment'. *Journal of Legal Studies* 33, 283–321.
- Singh, B. (1973), 'Making honesty the best policy'. Journal of Public Economics 2, 257–263.

- Sjoquist, D. L. (1973), 'Property crime and economic behavior: Some empirical results'. American Economic Review 63, 439–446.
- Slemrod, J. (1985), 'An empirical test of tax evasion'. Review of Economics and Statistics 67, 232–238.
- Sorenson, J., R. Wrinkle, V. Brewer, and J. Marquart (1999), 'Capital punishment and deterrence: Examining the effect of executions on murder in Texas'. *Crime and Delinquency* 45, 481–493.
- Stigler, G. J. (1970), 'The optimum enforcement of laws'. Journal of Political Economy 78, 526–536.
- Stolzenberg, L. and S. J. D'Alessio (2004), 'Criminology: Capital punishment, execution publicity and murder in Houston, Texas'. *Journal* of Criminal Law and Criminology 94, 351–379.
- Swimmer, E. R. (1974), 'Measurement of the effectiveness of urban law enforcement-a simultaneous approach'. Southern Economic Journal 40, 618–630.
- Taylor, J. B. (1978), 'Econometric models of criminal behavior: A review'. In: J. M. Heineke (ed.): *Economics of Criminal Behavior*. pp. 35–81.
- Thaler, R. H. (1977), 'An econometrie analysis of property crime: Interaction between police and criminals'. *Journal of Public Economics* 8, 37–51.
- Travaglini, G. (2005), 'Property crime and law enforcement in italy. A regional panel analysis 1980–1995'. http://ideas.repec.org/p/wpa/wuwpem/ 0512001.html.
- Trumbull, W. N. (1989), 'Estimations of the economic model of crime using aggregate and individual level data'. Southern Economic Journal 56, 423–439.
- Tunnell, K. D. (1992), Choosing Crime: The Criminal Calculus of Propert. Offenders. Chicago: Nelson-Hall.
- Vandaele, W. (1978), 'Participation in illegitimate activities: Ehrlich revisited'. In: A. Blumstein, J. Cohen, and D. S. Nagin (eds.): Deterrence and Incapacitation: Estimating the Effects of Criminal Sanctions on Crime Rates. pp. 270–335, National Academy of Sciences.
- Viscusi, W. K. (1986), 'The risks and rewards of criminal activity: A comprehensive test of criminal deterrence'. *Journal of Labor Economics* 4, 317–340.

- Wahlroos, B. (1981), 'On Finnish property criminality: An empirical analysis of the post war era using an Ehrlich model'. Scandinavian Journal of Economics 83, 553–562.
- Wilde, L. L. (1992), 'Criminal choice, nonmonetary sanctions, and marginal deterrence: A normative analysis'. *International Review of Law and Economics* 12, 333–344.
- Wilson, J. Q. and B. Boland (1978), 'The effect of the police on crime'. Law and Society Review 12, 367–390.
- Wilson, J. Q. and R. J. Herrnstein (1985), *Crime and Human Nature*. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Witte, A. D. (1980), 'Estimating the economic model of crime with individual data'. Quarterly Journal of Economics 94, 57–84.
- Witte, A. D. and D. Woodbury (1985), 'The effect of tax laws and tax administration on tax compliance: The case of the U.S. individual income tax'. *National Tax Journal* **38**, 1–13.
- Wolpin, K. I. (1978), 'An economic analysis of crime and punishment in England and Wales, 1894–1967'. *Journal of Political Economy* 86, 815–840.
- Wolpin, K. I. (1980), 'A time series cross section analysis of international variation in crime and punishment'. *Review of Economics and Statistics* 62, 417–423.
- Yunker, J. A. (2002), 'A new statistical analysis of capital punishment incorporating U.S. postmoratorium data'. Social Science Quarterly 82, 297–311.
- Zimmerman, P. R. (2004), 'State executions, deterrence, and the incidence murder'. Journal of Applied Economics 7, 163–193.